
City of Springboro 

Memo 
To: Springboro Residents & Other Interested Parties 

From: Dan Boron, Staff Liaison Springboro Planning Commission 

Date: April 7, 2021 

Re: Instructions for Wednesday, April 14, 2021 Planning Commission Work Session 

The Wednesday, April 14, 2021 Planning Commission work session will be conducted remotely by 
teleconference using Zoom. The meeting will begin at 6:00 p.m., however the virtual meeting room will be 
available for you to join beginning at 5:45 p.m. Wednesday night. 
 
1) Beginning at 5:45 p.m. log on to www.zoom.us. You do this by going to www.zoom.us.   
2) Once you are on the Zoom website, click “Join a Meeting” at the top right hand corner, which will bring 

you to the “Meeting ID” prompt. Enter Meeting ID and click button provided below. 
3) At this point, it may prompt you to download the Zoom app (if you haven’t used Zoom on that laptop / 

computer before). Download the app and click the .exe file in the bottom left hand corner once it is 
downloaded. 

4) Then it may say “Open Zoom”. Click “Open Zoom.” 
5) Then it should ask you for a meeting password. Enter meeting password and click Join Meeting. 
6) Make sure at some point you click the “Join with Video” button. The meeting host will then accept you 

into the meeting. This may take a few seconds, so don’t worry if you aren’t joined right away. 

http://www.zoom.us/
http://www.zoom.us/


2 

 

City of Springboro is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. 
 
Topic: Springboro Planning Commission Meeting 
Time: Apr 14, 2021 05:45 PM Eastern Time (US and Canada) 
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85144969719?pwd=QXJyVXRnMHVpcEU3VGNEK1FGODVqZz09 
 
Meeting ID: 851 4496 9719 
Passcode: 052770 
One tap mobile 
+13017158592,,85144969719#,,,,*052770# US (Washington DC) 
+13126266799,,85144969719#,,,,*052770# US (Chicago) 
 
Dial by your location 
        +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
        +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
        +1 646 558 8656 US (New York) 
        +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
        +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
        +1 669 900 9128 US (San Jose) 
Meeting ID: 851 4496 9719 
Passcode: 052770 
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcxj51t8Ml 

 



Agenda 
City of Springboro Planning Commission Meeting 

Wednesday, April 14, 2021, 6:00 p.m. 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE: 
Per Ohio Substitute House Bill 404 made effective November 22, 2020 in response to the COVID-19 state 
of emergency (Sec. 12), Section 12(A), the Springboro Planning Commission will conduct its Wednesday,  

April 14, 2021  Meeting via video conference at 6:00 p.m. EDT. Visit the City of Springboro website at 
https://www.cityofspringboro.com/CivicAlerts.aspx?CID=6,1 for a link to connect to the meeting. 

 
 

I. Call to Order 
 
 

II. Approval of Minutes 
 

A. March 10, 2021  Planning Commission Meeting 
 
 
III. Agenda Items 
 

A. Preliminary Review, Site Plan Review, 285 South Pioneer Boulevard, The Tooling Zone, 
building addition 
 

B. Preliminary Review, Rezoning, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-Type 
Residential District, to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and residential 
development 

 
C. Preliminary Review, General Plan, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-

Type Residential District, to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and 
residential development 

 
 
IV. Guest Comments 

 
 

V. Planning Commission and Staff Comments 
  
 
VI. Adjournment 

 

https://www.cityofspringboro.com/CivicAlerts.aspx?CID=6,1


 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 1 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

City of Springboro 
320 West Central Avenue, Springboro, Ohio 45066 

Planning Commission Meeting 
Wednesday, March 10, 2021 

 
I. Call to Order 

 
Chairperson Becky Iverson called the Springboro Planning Commission Meeting to order at 6:00 
p.m. by video conference.  
 
Present: Becky Iverson, Chair, Chris Pearson, Vice-Chair, Mark Davis, Robert Dimmitt, Steve 
Harding, Mike Thompson, and John Sillies. 
 
Staff: Chris Pozzuto, City Manager; Dan Boron, City Planner; Elmer Dudas, Development Director; 
Chad Dixon, City Engineer, Ann Burns, Planning Commission Secretary. 
 
Also present were Larry Dillin, Dillin Corp., Doug Borror, Borror Development, Wendy Moeller with 
Compass Point Planning, and Robin Hall, representing the Hall family. 
 
 

II. Approval of Minutes 
 

A. February 10, 2021 Planning Commission Minutes 
 
Ms. Iverson asked for corrections or additions to the minutes.  
 
There were none. 
 
Mr. Harding motioned to approve the February 10, 2021 Planning Commission minutes as 
submitted. Mr. Sillies seconded the motion. 

Vote: Harding, yes; Davis, yes; Sillies, yes; Dimmitt, yes; Iverson, yes; Pearson, yes; 
Thompson, yes (7-0) 

Ms. Iverson took this time to explain the process and the order of speakers for the meeting. 
She reported that 19 e-mails were submitted to share comments and 4 citizens requested to 
speak. The staff will provide their report first, then the applicant, next the other speakers and 
lastly, the planning commission members. 

 
III. Agenda Items 
 

A.   Final Approval, Planning & Zoning Code Text Amendment, sign code 
 

Mr. Boron reported that this agenda item was reviewed at length at the February meeting 
where Wendy Moeller from Compass Point Planning provided her presentation. Staff is 
requesting formal approval to forward this text amendment to council. Mr. Boron explained that 
this amendment is to incorporate changes to the code due to a recent U.S. Supreme Court 
decision that impacts how signs are regulated. He briefly reviewed the amendments and the 



 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 2 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

one major change that was discussed, mostly related to the flag and flag pole restrictions, 
which are reflected on page 6 of the draft ordinance. 
 
Ms. Moeller had nothing to add. 

 
 Ms. Iverson asked for a motion for approval Planning & Zoning Code Text Amendment, Sign 
 Code. 
 

 Mr. Thompson motioned to approve. Mr. Harding seconded the motion. 

Vote: Davis, yes; Sillies, yes; Dimmitt, yes; Iverson, yes; Pearson, yes; Thompson, yes;  
Harding, yes; (7-0) 
 
 

B. Preliminary Review 
 Rezoning, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-Type Residential District, to 

PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and residential development 
 
C. General Plan, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-Type Residential 

District, to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and residential 
development 

 
 Background Information 
 

These agenda items are based on a request filed by Easton Farm Partners, Springboro, seeking 
rezoning and general plan approval for the Easton Farm, 103.31-acre located at 605 North Main 
Street. The applicant is requesting rezoning and general plan approval under the City’s Planned 
Unit Development (PUD) process from R-1, Estate-Type Residential District, to PUD-MU, Planned 
Unit Development-Mixed Use. The applicant proposes to develop a mix of commercial, single-
family and multi-family residential development. While included in the PUD-MU rezoning, the 
applicant proposes to retain the 16.82-acre historic farmstead located on the west side of the 
property. 
 
The proposed rezoning/general plan appears as two separate items on the Planning Commission 
work session agenda. The first stage of the PUD process, rezoning and general plan review and 
approval, will involve two separate recommendations to City Council, and later two separate pieces 
of legislation considered by City Council. 
 
The subject property is located southwest of the intersection of Anna Drive/Lytle-Five Points Road 
and North Main Street. The subject property is presently farmed and includes two single-family 
residential units on the west side of the property within a historic farmstead. Vehicular access is 
presently provided by a single driveway from North Main Street. 
 
The subject property is presently zoned R-1, Estate-Type Residential District. The R-1 District 
allows residential development at a density of 2 dwelling units per acre on 20,000 square foot lots. 
The R-1 District was applied to this property in 2015 as part of the implementation of the current 
Planning & Zoning Code. 
 
The applicant has requested rezoning to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, with 
three components: mixed-use, multi-family, and residential indicated on sheet C1.0 in the 
submitted materials. 



 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 3 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

 
Rezoning together with general plan review and approval are the first step in the three-step PUD 
review and approval process. Approval by both Planning Commission and City Council are 
required. Final development plan, similar to the City’s site plan review process, review and 
approval by Planning Commission is the second stage in the process. Final development plan may 
be submitted in a number of sections in conjunction with a site’s incremental development. Record 
plan review and approval by both Planning Commission and City Council is the last step in the 
PUD approval process, this allowing for the subdivision of lots and the dedication of right-of-way 
and open spaces. As with final development plans, record plans may be submitted in a number of 
sections as the development is completed. 
 
Adjacent land uses include single-family residential development to the northwest within the Hunter 
Springs subdivision that includes homes on Deer Trail Drive. Open space in the form of the City of 
Springboro’s Gardner Park, office and retail development to the north within the Village Park PUD-
MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail development to the northeast within the 
Marketplace of Settlers Walk shopping center, a part of the Settlers Walk PUD, northeast of the 
intersection of Lytle-Five Points Road and North Main Street; retail and office development to the 
east on the east side of North Main Street; and retail and office development to the south including 
a day care facility and real estate office. To the south, residential development including 
condominiums within Springbrook Commons/Spice Rack subdivision, and the City of Springboro’s 
North Park. To the west is single-family residential within the Tamarack Hills and Royal Tamarack 
subdivisions.  
 
Adjacent zoning includes to the north R-2, Low-Density Residential District corresponding to the 
Hunter Springs subdivision, and PUD-MU corresponding to the Village Park development. PUD to 
the northwest associated with the Settlers Walk PUD. LBD, Local Business District, O, Office 
District, and O-R, Office-Residential District, to the east associated with the existing pattern of retail 
and office development. O-R District to the south, and transitioning to PUD and R-3, Medium-
Density Residential District, associated to the condominium development to the south, and then 
transitioning to R-2 District corresponding to the single-family area along Tamarack Trail and into 
North Park. This R-2 District pattern continues to the west and the Tamarack Hills/Royal Tamarack 
subdivisions. 
 
The Springboro Land Use Plan, adopted by City Council in April 2009, includes recommendations 
for the long-range development of the community. 
 
It is divided into 16 policy areas that make specific recommendations for smaller portions of the 
community and are grouped together because of proximity, land use patterns, date of development 
and other general characteristics. Policy Area #3, North SR 741 Corridor, includes the subject area 
and land including Hunter Springs, Village Park, the non-residential portions of Settlers Walk and 
retail/office areas on east side of North Main Street. Preferred Land Uses identified in the plan 
include convenience retail, personal service, retail uses limited to a maximum of 75,000 square 
feet in floor area, among other uses. Residential development is preferred at an overall density of 
6-8 dwelling units per acre. 
 
The applicant’s General Plan concept drawing proposes the following: 

 
• An 18.75-acre mixed use commercial component on the northeast corner of the property 

fronting North Main Street. This component includes the following: 
o A 113-unit independent living facility. 



 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 4 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

o An 84,400-square foot assisted living/memory care facility. 
o Outparcels for a fire station, restaurants and other retail facilities totaling 16,800 square 

feet. 
o Two commercial buildings including 37,900 square feet of space. 
 

• A 10.12-acre multi-family residential component on the southeast corner of the property 
fronting North Main Street that includes multiple buildings including 324 apartments, a 9,500-
square foot restaurant, and 3.0 acres of open space comprised of storm water detention 
ponds. 

 
• A 74.40-acre residential component covering the remainder of the property including the 

following: 
o Retaining the historic farmstead including 2 homes and preserving most farm buildings. 
o 24 townhomes. 
o 251 single-family lots most of that are served by garages accessed by private drives. The 

site of lots proposed for this large area ranges from large lots adjacent to the Hunter 
Springs neighborhood on the north end of the component to smaller lots to the south. 

o 12.82 acres of open space including two small parks, storm water detention ponds, a 
linear park, and a town green-type open space abutting the mixed use and multi-family 
residential component. 

 
For proposed residential development areas, a gross density of 6.83 dwelling units per acre (577 
dwelling units on 84.52 acres) is proposed. 
 
Access to the proposed development would be provided by an extension of the existing Anna Drive 
through the development south to Tamarack Trail near the entrance to North Park, an extension of 
Fox Trail Drive from the Hunter Springs subdivision south into the interior of the site, and an access 
point onto North Main Street from the proposed Easton Farm Boulevard. 

 
Staff Comments 
 
City staff has the following comments regarding the proposed rezoning/general plan application: 

 
1. Rename the mixed-use component of the PUD to commercial or other to avoid confusion with 

the overall rezoning request, and provide a component to address historic farmstead 
design/development standards and proposed permitted uses. 

2. Revise full-color illustrative plan to match b/w plan proposal.  
3. Revise the submittal for the next review to include the following for each component area: 

design and development standards including but not limited to setbacks, building heights, 
dwelling unit sizes, lot coverage, and a list of land uses proposed for each component area. As 
a companion to this information, provide a color-coded version of the general plan. 

4. Easton farmstead is listed as open space. Unless the farm is available for use as common 
space it should not be included in the calculation. 

5. An additional 5.47 acres of open space is needed to satisfy the 25% minimum open space 
requirement for residential PUDs. 

6. Indicate who will manage open spaces proposed in the development. 
7. For trails proposed on common areas, if any, include no restrictions for their use by any 

person with the exception of areas specifically set aside for the members of an association 
such as pool areas. 



 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 5 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

8. The trail along Anna Drive to be designed to meet minimum standards for width, turning 
radius, and to avoid obstructions. 

9. City to review Anna Drive extension to intersection with Tamarack Trail and North Park 
entrance. 

10. Indicate proposed phasing including road connections and other improvements with 
surrounding developments. 

11. Provide typical plans for buildings indicating materials, and other details for each component in 
order to determine concurrence between general plan’s concept and specific building plans 
when final development plans are prepared for review and approval by the Planning 
Commission.  

12. Sidewalks (or trail) to be located on all streets, both sides. This should be verified. The general 
plan is difficult to tell and a statement would address it. 

13. Connect Alley 4 and Alley 8, provided it can be engineered due to elevations. 
14. Central mailbox units need to be located on general plan (and approved by the post office). 

Include this information in the design guidelines. 
15. Flag lots not permitted (lots off of cul-de-sac on Red Hawk View). Remove flag lots or extend 

roadway. 
16. Road name proposals to be reviewed by City Engineer in consultation with the police and fire 

departments. 
17. Anna Drive to extend off of existing Anna Drive, and not relocated as shown. 
18. Provide Noel Drive typical section. 
19. Add a possible drop right turn lane into North Park at the Tamarack Trail connection. 
20. Traffic Study to be submitted for review and approved prior to final approval of General 

Plan/Rezone by planning commission. 
21. Right-of-way along North Main Street to be dedicated per city specifications. 
22. No construction access permitted from Tamarack Trail or Fox Trail Drive. 
23. Engineering design details to be reviewed at the Final Development Plans stage, including but 

not limited to utility design, storm water management plan including detention/retention design, 
and roadway design. 

24. Road intersections to be at 90 degree angles. 
25. HOA documents need to be created for review. 
26. All private alleys to have a public access easement description. 
27. The Clearcreek Fire District has no comments at this time. 

 



 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 6 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

City staff has the following comments regarding the proposed design guidelines booklet included in 
the rezoning/general plan submission: 

 
1. City staff recommends a review with applicants on the intent of the design guidelines. Are they 

covenants or are these intended to be incorporated into the general plan approval? 
2. Remove references to ARC in design guidelines. 
3. Change references to occupancies to permitted uses. 
4. Beginning on page 7, define personal care services. 
5. Page 7, (p) states no upper floor level use restrictions within mixed-use areas. This needs to 

be defined. 
6. Page 9, explain reference to architectural guidelines. 
7. Page 10-11, utility easements are to be located outside of the right-of-way in a 10-foot utility 

easement, and not within the proposed right-of-way. (page 10, (c); page 11 (e)). 
8. Page 13, for loading/unloading provisions, cross-reference City code on hours of operation. 
9. Page 14, explain proposed open space area requirements. Are these setbacks? 
10. Beginning on page 15, there are many references to traditional design. Is this concept tied 

down to examples? 
11. Page 18, (h) tie-down proposed building heights. 
12. For landscaping provisions on page 19, provide cross reference to City requirements in 

Chapter 1280, Landscaping. 
13. Page 22, for exterior lighting, provide cross reference to City requirements in Chapter 1273, 

Exterior Lighting. 
14. Page 30, explain accessory structure uses. 
15. Page 31, single-family lots table states 4 story permitted – is this correct? In same table, 

footnote 1 states front porch encroachment up to 5 feet maximum is permitted. This should be 
removed and the table should reflect actual need/want. 

16. Page 31, define where Village Center, Neighborhood Lane, etc., are in this proposal. 
17. Page 31-32, state no parking in alleys permitted (on page 31 (b) and Page 32, 9(a)). 
18. Page 32, are parking spaces defined as in a garage? 
19. Page 33, are antennas permitted? (page 33, 11 (b)). 
20. Page 34, explain Residential Typologies beginning on this page. Are these going to be 

supported by other design metrics? 
21. Parking Dimensions to match city code. Change Stall Length on 0 degree parking from 22 feet 

to 24 feet. 
 

Discussion: 
 
Mr. Boron provided some background information for the Planning Commission’s approval process 
for Planned Unit Developments (PUD). He referred to the development plan that was proposed 
back in 2017 from a different development team. This is a three step process that involves 
rezoning, final development plan, and then the record plan. Mr. Boron noted that the meeting 
tonight is for preliminary review and there will be no action taken. 
 
Mr. Boron introduced Ms. Robin Hall who will be reading a statement on behalf of the Easton 
Family Trust. 

 
 
 
 



 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 7 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

Mr. Boron referred to the vicinity map that the area includes the entire property, all 108 acres, 
which does differ slightly from the proposal in 2017, which was around 85 acres. This is a Planned 
Unit Development-Mixed Use (PUD-MU) project which would be an amendment to our Planning 
and Zoning Code. The proposal includes a mixed use area, a multi-family area as well as a single 
family area. 
 
Mr. Larry Dillin from the applicant team stated that their team has been speaking with the Hall 
family since late 2017 on the development of this plan and it reflects the wishes of the family. He 
explained how this site was modeled after two other existing sites in other parts of the state.  

 
Mr. Doug Borror provided some background information on his company which is a construction 
management and development company that specializes in mixed-use buildings in Central Ohio. 
He shared the artist rendering emphasizing the entrance from S.R. 741 and the statement that it 
creates.  
 
Mr. Dillin reviewed their goal to create an environment that promotes walkability. He explained how 
the commercial core is connected to the residential sections as well as the central park on the 
inside of the development. He also shared plans for extending the multiuse trail, connections to 
both Gardner Park and North Park by way of a linear park. 
 
Mr. Borror reviewed how they incorporated other concepts from around the world where mixed use 
and residential can be development together to accomplish the goals of the Hall family. Two similar 
examples of these developments are Norton Commons in Louisville Kentucky and Baldwin Park in 
Orlando, Florida. 
 
Mr. Borror explained how they are creating a unique destination for the Springboro Community by 
developing prominent and inviting neighborhoods with a blend of urban and suburban 
neighborhoods. He reviewed how the development will incorporate a variety of heights, materials 
and textures to create an upscale presence. Mr. Borror shared plans for the upscale apartments, 
the two story parking and the amenity packages that are designed to attract young professions to 
this area. He also reviewed the different types of residential living which include townhouses, urban 
lots, alley fed lots, edge lots and estate lots. All of these types of homes will follow the strict 
standards of the PUD. 
 
Mr. Dillin noted that the residential sections are uniquely designed to cover all aspects as well as 
minimize curb cuts. He also reviewed the plans and amenities for the independent living building 
which is designed to accommodate the unmet needs of the 75 and older population that is still 
mobile and active. Mr. Dillin also reviewed the plans and locations of other restaurants and 
commercial sites within the development, which will include outdoor dining. He explained how the 
design focuses on connectivity between buildings which will encourage walkability between 
residential, multi-family and commercial space. Mr. Dillin stated they have worked to design a 
unique and special development while being respectful of the wishes of the Hall family. 

 
Ms. Iverson thanked them for the presentation. She then welcomed the 3 other speakers who have 
registered to share their statements. 
 
Justin Weidle of 164 Deer Trail Drive, read his prepared statement which shared his opposition to 
the development and voiced his concerns about density, greenspace and the insufficient revenue 
that will be generated. His statement is provided as part of this record. 
 



 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 8 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

David Beckman, 168 Deer Trail Drive, read his prepared statement which shared his concerns 
about overcrowding schools, overcrowding existing parks, increased traffic and the additional 
burden on police and fire services. His statement is provided as part of this record. 

 
Steve Smith, 30 Jacamar Court, read is prepared statement in opposition of the development 
voicing concerns about increased traffic, noise, effects on wildlife and the return on investment. His 
statement is provided as part of this record. 
 
Ms. Iverson thanked these residents for their comments which will be entered into the record.  

 
Mr. Boron provided some background on the land use plan and its relationship to existing zoning 
on the site, which is currently zoned R-1, Rural Residential District. He explained that in the state of 
Ohio, and the City, there is no requirement that our land use plan be specifically matched up with 
the zoning of the property. Around 2015, the City also eliminated the agricultural zoning category 
since the community was no longer mostly agrarian, and is now a more suburban community with 
a large industrial base on the west end of town. Mr. Boron noted that the 2017 plan presented by 
Hills was not rejected, it was withdrawn by Hills Development before the Planning Commission had 
the opportunity to review it. The staff recommendation was to deny it, but the Planning Commission 
never had the opportunity to vote on it. 
 
Mr. Harding thanked all the residents for their comments as well as the staff and developer for all of 
their input. He asked Mr. Dillin to provide some additional information on the school issue, and 
what the estimated average age of children will be in these type of residential units. 

 
Mr. Borror explained that this semi-urban design is similar to another development near downtown 
Columbus. In this development, under half have any children at all, and there are no school age 
children. In the suburban apartments, there are less than 10% of children. In the unit mixes that are 
2 bedrooms, we estimate a minimum amount of school age children. In the single-family 
townhouses, there are likely to have young couples with no children. Finally, in the single family 
homes, these tend to attract the urban professionals not likely to have children. Mr. Borror stated 
that equals about 45% of the homes that will likely not have many children. He stated that they 
would expect to see some children within the 95 larger single family lots. Mr. Borror noted that this 
will be significantly less children than if they were all standard single family homes and the 
development was created with sensitivity to the impact on schools.  
 
Mr. Harding noted that the majority of these children would likely go to Dennis Elementary, and he 
assumes the building would be gradual. 

 
Mr. Borror stated that the multi-family units would be completed in two phases, beginning in 
summer, 2022, with an absorption of 50 units annually and completion timeline of 6½ years. 
 
Mr. Thompson asked if this was the same acreage as the proposal submitted in 2017. 
 
Mr. Boron explained that the acreage of the heritage farm was excluded in 2017 so it was roughly 
86 acres and the full acreage of the property is 103. It is staff’s understanding that it is included, 
and the family may have plans to change the use to include some commercial use. 
 
Mr. Sillies asked why the proposal was withdrawn in 2017, and what changed on this current 
proposal that make the City more receptive. 
 



 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 9 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

Mr. Boron stated that after 5 meetings, over a 10 month period of time Hills Development withdrew 
after staff recommendations regarding density relative to Deer Trail and acreage being consistent 
with Hunter Springs. 

 
Mr. Boron explained that with the current preliminary review, staff has had the opportunity to review 
at lengthy, and we did not see this level of detail back in 2017. There will like be changes based on 
comments and feedback from both the public and members of Planning Commission. 
 
Ms. Iverson agreed that Hills Development did not provide this level of detail or take into 
consideration the input from residents or the Planning Commission. This plan also seems to be 
taking into consideration the need to stay in line with the existing Deer Trail area. 
 
Mr. Sillies asked if the 3 and 4 story apartment buildings are necessary to make this project cost 
justifiable for both the developer and land owners. 
 
Mr. Borror explained that the goal is to create an up-scale experience that is different than anything 
in Springboro and create a destination where residents can be involved in the neighborhood. He 
reviewed the details, security and amenities that come with these buildings, which will be located 
on the lowest point of the property. 
 
Mr. Sillies asked if they were needed to make the project cost justified and would the project move 
forward without the apartments. 

 
Mr. Dillin explained that all the scenarios, market analysis and estimates include the multi-family 
apartments which also allows the multi-family use on smaller acreage. 
 
Mr. Harding also asked if the project can move forward without the apartments, or if they could be 
reduced to 3 story rather than 4. 
 
Mr.  Dillin explained that economically, they would not move forward without the apartments and 
feel they could not reach the quality and character that they proposed. 
 
Ms. Iverson also asked if there could be a consideration to lower the building to 3 stories, and what 
would that impact be. 
 
Mr. Dillin stated they could review the possibility of changing to a 3 story, but would likely result in 
less amenities. 
 
Mr. Borror agreed that it would take away from much of the luxury of the project, the demographics 
would change and could also eliminate the ability to build the parking garage. They feel the market 
is there to support the 4 story building and the project would not be as appealing and the end result 
would not be the same. 
 
Mr. Dillin stated he would likely need to pull the application if it is changed to a more suburban style 
product. 

 
Mr. Thompson stated the entrance is intended to catch your eye, and he did not feel one story 
either way will make much of a difference. 
 



 

March 10, 2021                             City of Springboro Planning Commission Regular                                   Page 10 of 10 
Meeting Minutes 

 
 

Ms. Iverson stated there has been much consideration and surveys, and this seems to be the best 
location to promote a complex of this size with this level of amenities. 
 
Mr. Pearson also shared concerns about a 4 story building. 
 
There was further discussion on the options and the pros and cons of changing the plans for the 
multi-family apartment building. 
 
Mr. Davis asked for clarification on the process, and if the rezoning and the development need to 
move forward together, or can staff focus on the re-zoning separately. 
 
Mr. Boron explained that the rezoning and the general plan would need to move forward together, 
and ultimately be forwarded to Council for legislation. There would be an ordinance for the re-
zoning and a resolution for the general plan. 
 
Mr. Boron thanked everyone for their comments and participation. There will be additional 
discussion on the months to come, and the next meeting will be April 14, 2021. Staff will be 
reviewing all the comments and issues that were raised today. The next deadline for submittal is 
Friday, March 29th, so staff will know then if anything is submitted for further review. 
               
                

IV. Guest Comments 
 

There were no guest comments. Ms. Iverson encouraged citizens to submit comments in advance 
through e-mail. 
 

 
V. Planning Commission and Staff Comments 

 
Mr. Boron noted that the Master Plan Update is still in process and the surveys can be submitted 
through March 28th. 

 
 

Adjournment 
 

Ms. Sillies motioned to adjourn the March 10, 2021 Planning Commission Regular Meeting at 8:05 p.m. 
Mr. Thompson seconded the motion. 

 
Vote: Sillies, yes; Dimmitt, yes; Iverson, yes; Pearson, yes; Harding, yes; Thompson, yes; Davis, 
yes. (7-0) 

 
 

________________________________________ 
Becky Iverson, Planning Commission Chairperson 
 
 
 
_______________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Dan Boron, Planning Consultant    Ann Burns, Planning Commission Secretary 

































March 10, 2021 
 

Thanks for time today. 

Appreciate audience-thanks to Dan Boron & Ann for their help in getting on agenda. 

By way of background, I’m a 28-year resident of Springboro-I’ve seen a lot of development in that time, 

most of which has been done well, and we have been able to maintain the small-town feel/flavor. 

Exception: N. Park, removal of wetlands, and loss of red-tipped blackbird. 

Today, I stand in opposition to the Easton Farms proposal. I view it as the straw that broke the camel’s 

back.  This development will be a horror show of epic proportions & will significantly impact QOL for 

residents living near this development. 

Let me remind newer residents that this proposal was previously dressed up in a different form and was 

twice voted down by your fellow citizens-so this is NOT a done deal. 

I’ve reviewed the plans in some detail, and while I’m not AICP accredited, I’ve looked at this from a 

‘common sense’ basis.  Well done, thorough, and clearly a lot of thought and energy has been poured 

into this draft. 

What is missing, though, IMO, is a statement of need-a rationale, a purpose, a justification.   This is 

nowhere to be found in the proposal anywhere-has this been done separately?  What is the ROI? 

I am particularly concerned about how this will impact North Park and its ambiance, notwithstanding 

the crushing load of new people ‘discovering’ the Park for the 1st time.  As somebody who faithfully 

walks the Park 2x/day, this is of serious concern.  

The connection of Anna Dr. to Tamarack is a serious opportunity for cut-through traffic to avoid the 

TWO red lights that you would otherwise need to navigate. As pointed out, one of drawings mislabeled. 

My specific areas of concern: 

1. Inalterable changes of the nature and ambiance of N. Springboro, including North Park 

2. Traffic and wait times will increase significantly with the development and new stop light. 

3. Effects of noise-current background is about 35db, what will this be post-development? 

4. FEMA FLOODPLANE sits directly adjacent to development-how will this be addressed? 

5. Effects on wildlife that use this area to feed-small mammals, and 3 deer in particular. 

6. What is the ROI on the proposed development, both short-term and longer-term?  $265MMM 

 

I’d like to see each of these issues addressed, along with a rationale for WHY we need this? 

Thanks for your time today. 

Respectfully,  

 

Steven B. Smith, PharmD 

30 Jacamar Ct. 

Springboro, OH 45066 





















































 
 

April 14, 2021                                      City of Springboro Planning Commission Meeting   Page 1  
 Background Information & Staff Recommendations 

Background Information & Staff Comments 
City of Springboro Planning Commission Meeting 

Wednesday, April 14, 2021, 6:00 p.m. 
 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE: 
Per Ohio Substitute House Bill 404 made effective November 22, 2020 in response to the COVID-19 state 
of emergency (Sec. 12), Section 12(A), the Springboro Planning Commission will conduct its Wednesday, 

April 14, 2021 Meeting via video conference at 6:00 p.m. EDT. Visit the City of Springboro website at 
https://www.cityofspringboro.com/CivicAlerts.aspx?CID=6,1 for a link to connect to the meeting. 

 
 

III. Agenda Items 
 

A. Preliminary Review 
Site Plan Review, 285 South Pioneer Drive, Tooling Zone, building addition 
 
Background Information 
 
This agenda item is a request for site plan review approval for an addition to the existing building 
that houses The Tooling Zone located at 285 South Pioneer Drive. As indicated in the submitted 
plans, the applicant for the property and business owner, Ferguson Construction, is seeking 
approval to construct an 11,400-square foot addition to the existing 37,180-square foot structure. 
The addition will be located on north side of the property on the rear/east side of the existing 
building in a portion of the property currently used for parking and circulation and building access. 
 
The 3.1668-acre subject property has vehicular access by way of an easement to South Pioneer 
Drive to the west through property owned and occupied by Nations Roof. The property also has 
frontage onto West Factory Road on the east side of the property, however no access is available 
to the roadway. The majority of the property is located in the City of Springboro, however a 30-foot 
strip of land on the east side of the property is located in Franklin Township. The east property line 
coincides with the boundary between Springboro/Franklin Township on the west, and Clearcreek 
Township to the east. 
 
Adjacent property to the northwest, west, and south have frontage and/or vehicular access from 
South Pioneer Drive and include Numed Pharma (265 South Pioneer), Nations Roof (275 South 
Pioneer), and a multi-tenant building located at 295-333 South Pioneer Drive. To the northeast is 
Master’s Touch Lawn Care located at 2754 West Factory Road, and to the east are single-family 
residences on the east side of West Factory Road, all in Clearcreek Township. 
 
The subject property is zoned ED, Employment Center District, a designation that permits light 
manufacturing, office, warehouse/distribution, and a number of other uses. The existing and 
proposed use are permitted in the ED District. The ED District also includes adjacent property to 
the north, west, and south. Property to the east located in Franklin Township is zoned R2, Two-
Family Residential Zone, a zoning category that permits residential development up to three units 
per acre, as well as other uses. Rural Residence District; property to the east in Clearcreek 
Township is zoned SR-1, Suburban Residence Zone, a zoning category that permits residential 
development up to two units per acre when connected to a central sanitary sewer system, as well 
as other uses. 
 

https://www.cityofspringboro.com/CivicAlerts.aspx?CID=6,1


 
 

April 14, 2021                                      City of Springboro Planning Commission Meeting   Page 2  
 Background Information & Staff Recommendations 

Staff Comments 
 
City staff has the following comments regarding the site plan review application: 
 
1. Setbacks and other design and development standards for the proposed addition to be set at 

the time of site plan review approval by Planning Commission as provided for in the ED 
District. 

2. Provide a 25-foot multiuse easement along the east end of the property abutting West Factory 
Road. 

3. Indicate how the proposed building exterior matches or compliments the existing building. 
4. Following preliminary review by Planning Commission, provide specifications for proposed 

lighting. Also indicate if proposed lighting complies with maximum 3500° Kelvin color-
temperature standard. 

5. Provide a separate storm water pollution prevention plan. 
6. Elevations and contours shall be based upon USGS datum and identify benchmark utilized. 
7. Storm water calculations currently under review. 
8. Provide revised final plan set incorporating staff comments and signed by owner or duly 

authorized officer. 
9. Dimension parking lot from lot line. 
10. Provide proposed sanitary sewer and water lateral information, if any.  
11. Clearcreek Township Fire District has no comments at this time. 
 
 

B. Preliminary Review 
Rezoning, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-Type Residential District, to 
PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and residential development 

 
C. Preliminary Review 

General Plan, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-Type Residential 
District, to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and residential 
development 

 
Background Information 
 
These agenda items are based on a request filed by Easton Farm Partners, Springboro, seeking 
rezoning and general plan approval for the Easton Farm, 103.31-acre located at 605 North Main 
Street. The applicant is requesting rezoning and general plan approval under the City’s Planned 
Unit Development (PUD) process from R-1, Estate-Type Residential District, to PUD-MU, Planned 
Unit Development-Mixed Use. The applicant proposes to develop a mix of commercial, single-
family and multi-family residential development. While included in the PUD-MU rezoning, the 
applicant proposes to retain the 16.82-acre historic farmstead located on the west side of the 
property. 

 
The proposed rezoning/general plan appears as two separate items on the Planning Commission 
work session agenda. The first stage of the PUD process, rezoning and general plan review and 
approval, will involve two separate recommendations to City Council, and later two separate pieces 
of legislation considered by City Council. 
 
These agenda items appeared on the March 10th Planning Commission agenda for preliminary 
review. As with the March 10th review, no formal approval has been requested or will be made at 



 
 

April 14, 2021                                      City of Springboro Planning Commission Meeting   Page 3  
 Background Information & Staff Recommendations 

the April 14th Planning Commission meeting. The applicants have submitted a revised design 
guidelines booklet for the April 14th review by Planning Commission. The background information 
below and staff comments reflect that change, however comments regarding the general plan map 
and other details remain largely the same from the March 10th meeting review. City staff 
anticipates that the applicants will submit revised plans for a future Planning Commission meeting, 
as early as the May 12th meeting. 
 
The subject property is located southwest of the intersection of Anna Drive/Lytle-Five Points Road 
and North Main Street. The subject property is presently farmed and includes two single-family 
residential units on the west side of the property within a historic farmstead. Vehicular access is 
presently provided by a single driveway from North Main Street. 
 
The subject property is presently zoned R-1, Estate-Type Residential District. The R-1 District 
allows residential development at a density of 2 dwelling units per acre on 20,000 square foot lots. 
The R-1 District was applied to this property in 2015 as part of the implementation of the current 
Planning & Zoning Code. 
 
The applicant has requested rezoning to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, with 
three components: mixed-use, multi-family, and residential indicated on sheet C1.0 in the 
submitted materials. 
 
Rezoning together with general plan review and approval are the first step in the three-step PUD 
review and approval process. Approval by both Planning Commission and City Council are 
required. Final development plan, similar to the City’s site plan review process, review and 
approval by Planning Commission is the second stage in the process. Final development plan may 
be submitted in a number of sections in conjunction with a site’s incremental development. Record 
plan review and approval by both Planning Commission and City Council is the last step in the 
PUD approval process, this allowing for the subdivision of lots and the dedication of right-of-way 
and open spaces. As with final development plans, record plans may be submitted in a number of 
sections as the development is completed.  
 
Adjacent land uses include single-family residential development to the northwest within the Hunter 
Springs subdivision that includes homes on Deer Trail Drive. Open space in the form of the City of 
Springboro’s Gardner Park, office and retail development to the north within the Village Park PUD-
MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail development to the northeast within the 
Marketplace of Settlers Walk shopping center, a part of the Settlers Walk PUD, northeast of the 
intersection of Lytle-Five Points Road and North Main Street; retail and office development to the 
east on the east side of North Main Street; and retail and office development to the south including 
a day care facility and real estate office. To the south, residential development including 
condominiums within Springbrook Commons/Spice Rack subdivision, and the City of Springboro’s 
North Park. To the west is single-family residential within the Tamarack Hills and Royal Tamarack 
subdivisions.  

 
Adjacent zoning includes to the north R-2, Low-Density Residential District corresponding to the 
Hunter Springs subdivision, and PUD-MU corresponding to the Village Park development. PUD to 
the northwest associated with the Settlers Walk PUD. LBD, Local Business District, O, Office 
District, and O-R, Office-Residential District, to the east associated with the existing pattern of retail 
and office development. O-R District to the south, and transitioning to PUD and R-3, Medium-
Density Residential District, associated to the condominium development to the south, and then 
transitioning to R-2 District corresponding to the single-family area along Tamarack Trail and into 



 
 

April 14, 2021                                      City of Springboro Planning Commission Meeting   Page 4  
 Background Information & Staff Recommendations 

North Park. This R-2 District pattern continues to the west and the Tamarack Hills/Royal Tamarack 
subdivisions. 
 
The Springboro Land Use Plan, adopted by City Council in April 2009, includes recommendations 
for the long-range development of the community. It is divided into 16 policy areas that make 
specific recommendations for smaller portions of the community and are grouped together because 
of proximity, land use patterns, date of development and other general characteristics. Policy Area 
#3, North SR 741 Corridor, includes the subject area and land including Hunter Springs, Village 
Park, the non-residential portions of Settlers Walk and retail/office areas on east side of North Main 
Street. Preferred Land Uses identified in the plan include convenience retail, personal service, 
retail uses limited to a maximum of 75,000 square feet in floor area, among other uses. Residential 
development is preferred at an overall density of 6-8 dwelling units per acre. 
 
The applicant’s General Plan concept drawing proposes the following: 
 
• An 18.75-acre mixed use commercial component on the northeast corner of the property 

fronting North Main Street. This component includes the following: 
o A 113-unit independent living facility. 
o An 84,400-square foot assisted living/memory care facility. 
o Outparcels for a fire station, restaurants and other retail facilities totaling 16,800 

square feet. 
o Two commercial buildings including 37,900 square feet of space. 

 
• A 10.12-acre multi-family residential component on the southeast corner of the property 

fronting North Main Street that includes multiple buildings including 324 apartments, a 9,500-
square foot restaurant, and 3.0 acres of open space comprised of storm water detention 
ponds. 
 

• A 74.40-acre residential component covering the remainder of the property including the 
following: 

o Retaining the historic farmstead including 2 homes and preserving most farm 
buildings. 

o 24 townhomes. 
o 251 single-family lots most of that are served by garages accessed by private drives. 

The site of lots proposed for this large area ranges from large lots adjacent to the 
Hunter Springs neighborhood on the north end of the component to smaller lots to the 
south. 

o 12.82 acres of open space including two small parks, storm water detention ponds, a 
linear park, and a town green-type open space abutting the mixed use and multi-
family residential component. 

 
For proposed residential development areas, a gross density of 6.83 dwelling units per acre (577 
dwelling units on 84.52 acres) is proposed. 
 
Access to the proposed development would be provided by an extension of the existing Anna Drive 
through the development south to Tamarack Trail near the entrance to North Park, an extension of 
Fox Trail Drive from the Hunter Springs subdivision south into the interior of the site, and an access 
point onto North Main Street from the proposed Easton Farm Boulevard. 



 
 

April 14, 2021                                      City of Springboro Planning Commission Meeting   Page 5  
 Background Information & Staff Recommendations 

Staff Comments 
 
City staff has the following comments regarding the proposed rezoning/general plan application 
reviewed at the March 10th Planning Commission meeting: 
 
1. Rename the mixed-use component of the PUD to commercial or other to avoid confusion with 

the overall rezoning request, and provide a component to address historic farmstead 
design/development standards and proposed permitted uses. 

2. Revise full-color illustrative plan to match b/w plan proposal.  
3. Revise the submittal for the next review to include the following for each component area: 

design and development standards including but not limited to setbacks, building heights, 
dwelling unit sizes, lot coverage, and a list of land uses proposed for each component area. As 
a companion to this information, provide a color-coded version of the general plan. 

4. Easton farmstead is listed as open space. Unless the farm is available for use as common 
space it should not be included in the calculation. 

5. An additional 5.47 acres of open space is needed to satisfy the 25% minimum open space 
requirement for residential PUDs. 

6. Indicate who will manage open spaces proposed in the development. 
7. For trails proposed on common areas, if any, include no restrictions for their use by any 

person with the exception of areas specifically set aside for the members of an association 
such as pool areas. 

8. The trail along Anna Drive to be designed to meet minimum standards for width, turning 
radius, and to avoid obstructions. 

9. City to review Anna Drive extension to intersection with Tamarack Trail and North Park 
entrance. 

10. Indicate proposed phasing including road connections and other improvements with 
surrounding developments. 

11. Provide typical plans for buildings indicating materials, and other details for each component in 
order to determine concurrence between general plan’s concept and specific building plans 
when final development plans are prepared for review and approval by the Planning 
Commission.  

12. Sidewalks (or trail) to be located on all streets, both sides. This should be verified. The general 
plan is difficult to tell and a statement would address it. 

13. Central mailbox units need to be located on general plan (and approved by the post office). 
Include this information in the design guidelines. 

14. Flag lots not permitted (lots off of cul-de-sac on Red Hawk View). Remove flag lots or extend 
roadway. 

15. Road name proposals to be reviewed by City Engineer in consultation with the police and fire 
departments. 

16. Anna Drive to extend off of existing Anna Drive, and not relocated as shown. 
17. Provide Noel Drive typical section. 
18. Add a possible roundabout at the Tamarack Trail connection. 
19. Traffic Study to be submitted for review and approved prior to final approval of General 

Plan/Rezone by planning commission. 
20. Right-of-way along North Main Street to be dedicated per city specifications. 
21. No construction access permitted from Tamarack Trail or Fox Trail Drive. 
22. Engineering design details to be reviewed at the Final Development Plans stage, including but 

not limited to utility design, storm water management plan including detention/retention design, 
and roadway design. 

23. Road intersections to be at 90 degree angles. 



 
 

April 14, 2021                                      City of Springboro Planning Commission Meeting   Page 6  
 Background Information & Staff Recommendations 

24. HOA documents need to be created for review. 
25. The Clearcreek Fire District has no comments at this time. 

 
City staff has the following comments regarding the proposed design guidelines booklet, as revised 
for the April 14th Planning Commission meeting, included in the rezoning/general plan submission: 

 
1. City staff recommends a review with applicants on the intent of the design guidelines. Are they 

covenants or are these intended to be incorporated into the general plan approval? 
2. Page 8, in the table, the minimum open space is 25% for the residential portion only. 
3. Page 10-11, utility easements are to be located outside of the right-of-way in a 10-foot utility 

easement, and not within the proposed right-of-way. (page 10, (c); page 11 (e)). 
4. Page 13, for loading/unloading provisions, cross-reference City Code Section 660.19 for hours 

of operation for non-residential areas. Design standards may be more restrictive, if desired. 
5. Page 14, explain proposed open space area requirements. Are these setbacks? 
6. Page 16, (e) Building Materials – Prohibit the use of plywood, unadorned corrugated siding, 

vinyl siding and plastic panels all together. 
7. Page 18, (i) -  Clarify Enclosed unoccupied building elements vs purely decorative unoccupied 

elements. 
8. For landscaping provisions on page 19, provide cross reference to City requirements in 

Chapter 1280, Landscaping. 
9. Page 22, for exterior lighting, provide cross reference to City requirements in Chapter 1273, 

Exterior Lighting. 
10. Page 23, 8. (a) – Prohibit the use of chain-link fencing with inserted slats, or plastic coated 

walls and/or support wood posts all together. 
11. Page 26, Are the proposed parking standards intended to supersede those of the City? 
12. Page 27 (d) – Increase the minimum setback for off street parking along SR 741 
13. Provide Public Access Easements over service ways. 
26. For the table on page 31, define in a map where Village Center, Neighborhood Lane, etc., are 

in this proposal. 
27. For the same table, for residential areas, provide a table showing minimum setbacks, 

minimum lot size (SF), minimum lot width, and minimum dwelling size for each type. 
28. For the same table, Footnote 1 states front porch encroachment up to 5 feet maximum is 

permitted. This should be removed and the table should reflect actual need/want.  For which 
residential area does footnote 1 relate? 

14. Page 33, 11. (a) – Prohibit the use of chain link, barbed wire, or plain wire mesh, or rough-
textured/timber or “fortress style” wood fences. 

15. Beginning on page 34, explain Residential Typologies beginning on this page. Are these going 
to be supported by other design metrics? 

16. Page 42 – Increase trail width from 8 feet to 10 feet. 
 
 

The information contained in this report is based on material provided to the City of Springboro as of 
Monday, April 5, 2021 at 5:00 p.m. 
 





N
 3

°-
5
1
'-
4
5
" 
E
  
  
 2

0
0
.0

0
'

S
A
N

S
A
N

S
A
N

S
A
N

E
X
-R

W
E
X
-R

W
E
X
-R

W
E
X
-R

W

N 86°-08'-15" W     467.79'

S 86°-08'-15" E     443.09'

S
 3

°-
5
3
'-
4
0
" 
W

  
  
 3

0
0
.0

0
'

N
 4

°-
4
0
'-
0
0
" 
E
  
  
 1

0
0
.0

1
'

S 86°-08'-15" E
      23.46'

S
T
M

EX. SIDEWALK

REMOVE EX. ASPHALT

150'

EX. ASPHALT

   EX. FACILITY

FIN. FLR.= 100.0

   EX. FACILITY
FIN. FLR.= 100.0

EX. TRUCK DOCK

REMOVE EX. ASPHALT

EX. ASPHALT

EX. ASPHALT

2
2
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 P

A
R
K
IN

G
 S

T
A
LL

S

1
0
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 P

A
R
K
IN

G
 S

T
A
LL

S

10 EXISTING PARKING STALLS

7
6
'

100
101

99

99

99

98

98

9
9

99

9
8

99

99

9
9 9

9

1
0
0

1
0
1

1
0
2

1
0
3

1
0
2

1
0
1

1
0
0

9
9

9
8

9
7

9
7

9
8

9
9

STM STM STM

S
T
M

S
T
M

S
T
M

STM

EX. CB
TOP = 98.2
INV. = 95.8

EX. CB
TOP = 97.6
INV. = 95.9

EX. CB
TOP = 97.8
INV. = 94.3

EX. CB
TOP = 97.5
INV. = 95.5

EX. CB
TOP = 99.3
INV. = 93.9

EX. 12" 

E
X
. 
1
5
" 
C
P
P

E
X
. 
1
5
" 
C
P
P

EX. 6" GPVC

EX. 6"

EX. 12"

EX. FENCE EX. FENCE EX. FENCE

EX. CONCRETE

EX. CONCRETEEX. CONCRETE

NEW 12"

N
E
W

 6
"

99.7

99.7

REMOVE EX. CONCRETE

4" OF WASHED STONE
OVER WEED MAT

REMOVE EX. ASPHALT

EX. 12" 

2
0
.0

'

PROPOSED ELEV.  TYP.

EXISTING ELEV. 
    TYPICAL

R
O

O
F

S
LO

P
E

R
O

O
F

S
LO

P
E

EX. CO

R
O

O
F

S
LO

P
E

R
O

O
F

S
LO

P
E

EX. FH

EX. FH

ABANDON EX. 8" PIPE

NEW PLUG

CONNECT EX. D.S.
TO EX. CATCH BASIN

APPROXIMATE LOCATION

99

9
9

98

1
0
0

1
0
1

1
0
2

1
0
3

100

1
0
1

1
0
0

101 102

101

100

99

1
0
1

9
9

1
0
0

1
0
1

100

EX. ASPHALT

EX. ASPHALT

EX. CB
TOP = 95.4

9
' 
P
A
R
K
IN

G
 S

E
T
B
A
C
K

9' PARKING SETBACK9' PARKING SETBACK

9' PARKING SETBACK

9' PARKING SETBACK

9
' 
P
A
R
K
IN

G
 S

E
T
B
A
C
K

9
' 
P
A
R
K
IN

G
 S

E
T
B
A
C
K

20' SANITARY EASEMENT

1
0
2

101.3

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

98.2

98.298.6

99.6
98.4

98.6

98.5

97.8 97.7

99.1

99.8

99.3
99.5

99.7

98.5

N
E
W

 4
" 
Y
E
LL

O
W

 S
T
R
IP

IN
G

 T
Y
P
.

NEW ADA PARKING STALL

X

X X

XXX

X XXX

X XXX

100.8 100.2

100.3100.7 100.1

100.0 99.499.65 99.3

100.0 98.599.35 98.9

X
99.4

X
99.4

X
98.9

X
99.1

X
98.8

NEW 4" YELLOW STRIPING TYP.

EX. SAN MH

NEW TOP = 99.1

TOP = 99.5
INV. = EX.

15

11 EXISTING PARKING STALLS

17

NEW STANDARD
DUTY ASPHALT

NEW STANDARD
DUTY ASPHALT

REMOVE EX. STRIPING

FLO
WLINE

FLO
WLINE

FLO
WLINE

8
" 
#
2
 S

T
O

N
E
 O

N
 W

E
E
D

 M
A
T

8
" 
#
2
 S

T
O

N
E
 O

N
 W

E
E
D

 M
A
T

1
0
2
.0

1
0
1
.0

1
0
1
.0

1
0
0
.0

24.0'18.0' 18.0'

9
.0

'

EX. OVHD DOOR

EX. ADA STALLS

99.799.7

99.799.7

SAW CUT EX. CONC.

NEW ADDITION
FIN. FLR. = 100.0

NEW 22.5° BEND

N
E
W

 6
"

N
E
W

 6
"

X

X

X

99.8

X X

X

X

X

X

98.4

98.6

98.7

99.1

99.9

99.8

N
E
W

 6
" 
C
O

N
C
.

NEW
 12"

NEW 12"

NEW D.S. TYP.

99.3

9
9
.7

9
9
.7

STM

N
E
W

 4
" 

C
O

N
C
.

R
O

O
F

S
LO

P
E

R
O

O
F

S
LO

P
E

SAW CUT
EX. ASPHALT

NEW STANDARD
DUTY ASPHALT

4" OF WASHED STONE
OVER WEED MAT

N
E
W

 G
R
A
S
S

N
E
W

G
R
A
S
S

NEW 6" GUARD POST

GRADE 
TO DRAIN

GRADE 
TO DRAIN

24.0'

3

EX. DETENTION BASIN

~5.5% SLOPE

NEW STRIPING

GRADE 
TO DRAIN

G
R
A
D

E
 

T
O

 D
R
A
IN

NEW RIDGE LINE ~19'-2" A.F.F.

98
97

96

95

94

94

95

96

97

98

93

93
94

95
9
6

97

9
8

9
9

1
0
0

1
0
0

1
0
1

S
T
MS
TM

G
R
A
D
E
 

T
O

 D
R
A
IN

2
0

.1
'

85.4'

85.4'

1
9

.9
'

8.9'

10.0'

8
6

.2
'

8
6

.2
'

87.8'

87.9'

EX. 16" Ø TREE

EX. GRASS
EX. GRASS

E
X
. 

G
R
A
S
S

E
X
. 

G
R
A
S
S

E
X
. 

G
R
A
S
S

EX. GRASS

EX. GRASS

EX. GRASSEX. GRASS

E
X
. 

G
R
A
S
S

E
X
. 

G
R
A
S
S

E
X
. 

G
R
A
S
S

E
X
. 

G
R
A
S
S

EX. GRASS

EX. GRASS
REMOVE

EX. GRASS
REMOVE

EX. GRASSEX. GRASS

EX. RIDGE LINE ~19'-2" A.F.F.

ZONED "ED" - EMPLOYMENT CENTER DISTRICT

ZONED "ED" - EMPLOYMENT CENTER DISTRICT

ZONED "ED" - EMPLOYMENT CENTER DISTRICT

Z
O

N
E
D

 "
E
D

" 
- 

E
M

P
LO

Y
M

E
N
T
 C

E
N
T
E
R
 D

IS
T
R
IC

T

Z
O

N
E
D

 "
E
D

" 
- 

E
M

P
LO

Y
M

E
N
T
 C

E
N
T
E
R
 D

IS
T
R
IC

T

ZONING MAX BUILDING HEIGHT = 45

E
X
. 
1
5
" 
C
P
P

EX. DUMPSTERS
TO REMAIN

EX. LANDSCAPING

NEW FLEXSTORM INLET FILTER
NEW FLEXSTORM INLET FILTER

EX. FENCEEX. FENCE

NEW FLEXSTORM INLET FILTER

EX
. 1

5" C
PP

EX. CB
TOP = 96.9

INV. = 92.4EX. 8" W/ GRATE

NEW 6" ORIFICE PLATE

IN
V. =

 9
2.9

EX. MH
TOP = 99.1
INV. = 93.0E

X
. 

6
" 
S
T
M

IN
V
. 

=
 9

6
.8

5

E
X
. 

6
" 
S
T
M

IN
V
. 

=
 9

6
.8

4

E
X
. 

6
" 
S
T
M

IN
V
. 

=
 9

7
.0

3

E
X
. 6

" S
T
M

IN
V
. =

 9
6
.3

8

EX. 4
"

E
X
. 4

"

NEW FLEXSTORM INLET FILTER NEW FLEXSTORM INLET FILTER

N
E
W

 F
LE

X
S
T
O

R
M

 I
N
LE

T
 F

IL
T
E
R

NEW SILT FENCE NEW SILT FENCE

N
E
W

 S
IL

T
 F

E
N
C

E

N
E
W

 L
IG

H
T
 P

O
LE

N
E
W

 L
IG

H
T
 P

O
LE

NEW PARKING BLOCK TYP.

LANDSCAPING SHALL BE BY THE OWNER.

CONTRACTOR SHALL SEED OR MULCH ANY DISTURBED AREAS WITHIN 30 DAYS OF FINAL GRADING.

SITE CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE APPROPRIATE MEASURES TO CONTROL SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION THROUGHOUT THE

PROJECT.  THIS SHALL INCLUDE THE USE OF STRAW BALES, SILT FENCING, #2 STONE AT CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCES AND ANY

OTHER METHODS TO PREVENT EROSION OR SEDIMENT FROM LEAVING THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.  ANY DIRT OR DEBRIS

TRACKED ONTO THE ROADWAY SHALL BE REMOVED WITHIN 24 HOURS OR LESS.

GENERAL NOTES

EROSION CONTROL

BUILDING PAD

THE CONTRACT MUST BE ADJUSTED FOR ANY COST INCURRED IN MOVING, REROUTING OR REPAIRING BELOW GRADE ITEMS

SUCH AS TANKS AND PIPING ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION UNLESS SPECIFICALLY NOTED ON CONTRACT DRAWINGS.

SITE PREPARATION AND GRADING

UTILITIES
EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN IN THEIR APPROXIMATE LOCATION ACCORDING TO THE BEST AVAILABLE DATA.  THE

CONTRACTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING THEM IN THE FIELD PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND WILL BE RESPONSIBLE

FOR ANY DAMAGE DONE TO THEM.  CONTRACTOR TO CONTACT OHIO UTILITIES PROTECTION SERVICE (1-800-362-2764) 48

HOURS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

NEW FLOOR SLAB IS TO BE 6" CONCRETE WITH (1) LAYER OF 42# WWF ON 4" 304 CUSHION FILL ON COMPACTED  SUBGRADE.

SUBGRADE IS TO BE COMPACTED TO A MINIMUM OF 100% STANDARD PROCTOR AND APPROVED BY A TESTING LABORATORY.

ROCK EXCAVATION AND REMOVAL IS EXCLUDED.  ROCK EXCAVATION IS DEFINED AS ROCK WHICH CANNOT BE REMOVED BY

ORDINARY MEANS.  (TRACK HOE OR RUBBER TIRE BACK HOE)

STORM WATER MANAGEMENT

SEEDING AND LANDSCAPING

SITE CONCRETE

PROVIDE SYMBOL OF ACCESSIBILITY PARKING SIGNS AT ALL HANDICAP ACCESSPARKING SPACES PER OBC SECTION 1110

AND ADAAG REQUIREMENTS.  UNIVERSAL PARKING SPACE DESIGN USED PER ADAAG A4.6.3 REQUIREMENTS.

AREAS DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE SEEDED. ( FERTILIZER, STRAW, ROCK PICK-UP, MULCH & TACKIFIER, ETC.

REQUIRED)

HANDICAP PARKING

FURNISH AND INSTALL A COMPLETE SITE DRAINAGE SYSTEM CONSISTING OF PIPING AS SHOWN.

DOWNSPOUTS TO BE CONNECTED TO SITE DRAINAGE SYSTEM USING PVC BOOTS,  PVC PIPE AND PVC 45° FITTINGS.  VERIFY

DOWNSPOUT LOCATIONS ON THE BUILDING ELEVATION DRAWINGS.

ALL OUTSIDE HVAC UNITS SHALL BE ON A 6" CONCRETE PAD. 

ALL WORK MUST COMPLY WITH CITY STANDARDS.

NEW STORM PIPING TO BE ADS N-12 ST IB PIPE OR EQUAL AND INSTALLED PER PIPE MANUFACTURERS SPECIFICATIONS.

SITE CONCRETE SHALL BE 6" THICK (4,000 PSI - AIR ENTRAINED) WITH ONE LAYER OF 42# WWF ON 4" OF COMPACTED 304

AGGREGATE ON COMPACTED SUBGRADE.

AT CROSSING THE WATERLINE SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM VERTICAL DISTANCE OF 18" FROM STORM AND SANITARY SEWERS.

ALSO ONE FULL LENGTH OF WATER MAIN SHALL BE LOCATED SO THE JOINTS ARE AS FAR FROM THE STORM SANITARY

SEWERS AS POSSIBLE.

COMPACTED GRANULAR BACKFILL SHALL BE INSTALLED ON ALL PIPING UNDER BUILDINGS, PAVEMENT AREAS AND ANY PIPING

WITHIN 5 FEET OF EDGE OF PAVEMENT.

REMOVE EXISTING ASPHALT AND  STRIP TOPSOIL FROM BUILDING AND PAVEMENT AREAS, STOCK PILE AND RESPREAD.  AFTER

THE COMPLETION OF STRIPPING OPERATIONS, THE EXPOSED SUBGRADE AREAS SHALL BE PROOFROLLED WITH SUITABLE

HEAVY EQUIPMENT (20-30 TON LOADED DUMP TRUCK). GRADE AND MAKE REQUIRED CUTS AND COMPACTED FILLS FOR NEW

ELEVATIONS SHOWN.  HAUL EXCESS MATERIAL OFF-SITE AND HAUL IN ENGINEERED FILL AS NEEDED.

ALL DETENTION BASINS SHALL BE USED AS SEDIMENTATION BASINS DURING THE CONSTRUCTION PERIOD.  THE BASINS MUST

BE INSPECTED ONCE A WEEK AND AFTER EVERY RAINFALL OR WHENEVER CITY STAFF DEEMS NECESSARY.  CAREFULLY CHECK

OUTLETS AND MAKE TIMELY REPAIRS AS NECESSARY.  REMOVE SEDIMENT FROM THE BASIN WHEN APPROXIMATELY HALF OF

THE STORAGE VOLUME HAS BEEN FILLED.

NO GRADING OPERATIONS SHALL BEGIN UNTIL THE CITY APPROVES THE EROSION CONTROL PLAN AND AN EPA NPDES PERMIT

IS OBTAINED.  THE SITE CONTRACTOR MUST IMPLEMENT, INSPECT & MAINTAIN EROSION CONTROL MEASURES UNTIL AREA IS

STABILIZED.

ASPHALT NOTES
STANDARD ASPHALT PAVEMENT SHALL CONSIST OF 1-1/2" OF ASPHALT SURFACE COURSE TYPE 1, PG 64-22 ON 1-1/2" OF

ASPHALT INTERMEDIATE COURSE, TYPE 2, PG 64-22 ON 7" OF COMPACTED 304 AGGREGATE ON COMPACTED SUBGRADE.

CLEANING OF ASPHALT AND ITEM 407 TACK COAT IS REQUIRED IF MORE THAN (3) WORKING DAYS PASS BETWEEN LAYING OF

ASPHALT SURFACE COURSE TYPE 1 AND ASPHALT INTERMEDIATE COURSE TYPE 2. ( 0.1 GAL. / SQ. YD. ).

ASPHALT CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR SAW-CUTS AND A.C. SEALER WHERE PROPOSED ASPHALT MEETS EXISTING

ASPHALT.

PARKING LOT STRIPING IS TO RECEIVE ONE COAT OF YELLOW PAINT 4" WIDE AS PER LAYOUT ON SITE PLAN. (BY ASPHALT

CONTRACTOR)

PAVING DESIGN IS BASED UPON A MAXIMUM DEFLECTION OF THE SUBGRADE SOILS OF 1/2" DURING PROOF ROLLING

OPERATIONS.  ADDITIONAL COSTS FOR REMOVAL OF UNSTABLE SOILS FOUND DURING PROOF ROLLING OPERATIONS MUST

BE ADDED TO CONTRACT BY CHANGE ORDER.

SEEDING CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR CREATING PROPER CONDITIONS TO ALLOW FOR OPTIMIZATION OF GRASS SEED

GERMINATION AND CONTINUED GROWTH.  SEEDING CONTRACTOR WILL BE REQUIRED TO DO ROCK PICK UP AND VERIFY ADEQUATE

PALCEMENT OF TOPSOIL, SEED, FERTILIZER, MULCH & TACKIFIER AND/OR STRAW AS REQUIRED.  SEEDING CONTRACTOR IS TO

NOTIFY GENERAL CONTRACTOR ANY CONDITIONS NOT CONDUCIVE TO ENSURING ESTABLISHED GRASS.  UPON COMPLETION AND

AFTER INITIAL WATERING THE OWNER WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR WATERING AS REQUIRED.

PARKING LOT LIGHTING
THE ELECTRICIAN SHALL COMPLY WITH ALL REQUIREMENTS OF THE SPRINGBORO ZONING CODE INCLUDING CHAPTER 1273

"EXTERIOR LIGHTING"

- PARKING LOTS AND ASSOCIATED CIRCULATION AREAS MINIMUM ILLUMINATION OF 0.4 FOOT-CANDLES AND MAXIMUM 

  ILLUMINATION OF 6.0 FOOT-CANDLES.

- LIGHT FIXTURES SHALL NOT BE MOUNTED IN EXCESS OF THE MAXIMUM HEIGHT LIMITATION OF THE DISTRICT IN WHICH 

  THEY ARE LOCATED. FOR LIGHTING IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS AND FOR USES ADJACENT TO A RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT OR 

  USE, LIGHT FIXTURES SHALL NOT BE MOUNTED IN EXCESS OF 25 FEET ABOVE GRADE. FIXTURE HEIGHT SHALL BE 

  MEASURED FROM THE GRADE OF THE ILLUMINATED SURFACE TO THE TOP OF THE FIXTURE.

- ALL FIXTURES SHALL BE FULLY SHIELDED.

 - NO DIRECT LIGHT SOURCE SHALL BE VISIBLE AT THE PROPERTY LINE (ADJACENT TO RESIDENTIAL) AT GROUND LEVEL.

- MAXIMUM ILLUMINATION AT THE PROPERTY LINE SHALL NOT EXCEED 0.5 FOOT-CANDLES.

THE EXISTING DETENTION BASIN IS TO BE UPDATED TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS FOR SEDIMENT CONTROL AND THE

ADDITIONAL STORM WATER DETENTION REQUIREMENTS.

SITE CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE APPROPRIATE MEASURES TO CONTROL SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION THROUGHOUT THE

PROJECT.  THIS SHALL INCLUDE THE USE OF STRAW BALES, SILT FENCING, #2 STONE AT CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCES AND ANY

OTHER METHODS TO PREVENT EROSION OR SEDIMENT FROM LEAVING THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.  ANY DIRT OR DEBRIS

TRACKED ONTO THE ROADWAY SHALL BE REMOVED WITHIN 24 HOURS OR LESS.

EROSION CONTROL

OFF-STREET PARKING CALCULATION
EXISTING BUILDING AREA = 37,180 SQ. FT.

NEW PROPOSED ADDITION AREA = 11,400 SQ. FT.

NEW TOTAL BUILDING AREA = 48,580 SQ. FT.

NEW TOTAL INDUSTRIAL AREA = 43,280 SQ. FT.

NEW TOTAL OFFICE AREA = 5,000 SQ. FT.

OFF-STREET PARKING STALLS REQUIRED

OFFICE AREA = 5,000 SQ. FT. / (1 STALL / 300 SQ. FT.) = 16.67 STALLS = 17 STALLS

INDUSTRIAL AREA = 43,280 SQ. FT. / (1 STALL / 750 SQ. FT.) = 57.71 STALLS = 58 STALLS

TOTAL OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIRED = 17 STALLS (OFFICE) + 58 STALLS (INDUSTRIAL) = 75 STALLS

TOTAL OFF-STREET PARKING PROVIDED = 88 STALLS (INCLUDES 4 ADA (1 VAN ACCESSIBLE))

2'- 0"
MIN 7' CEN. TO CEN.

DIRECTION
OF FLOW

COMPACTED
EXCAVATED SOIL

SILT FENCE

1-1/2" x 1-1/2" x 48"
ANCHORING POST

SEE DETAIL B
FOR EMBEDMENT DETAILS

6"

6"

EXTEND FABRIC 6" INTO
EXCAVATED TRENCH

NOT TO SCALE

SILT FENCE DETAIL

DETAIL B

DOWNSPOUT DETAIL

x

PLAN FOR SIZE, INVERT,
STORM MAIN SEE SITE

FINISHED GRADE

ADAPTER

DOWNSPOUT 

AND LOCATION

WYE CONNECTION IN
DIRECTION OF FLOW

SDR 35 PVC  or ADS-N12
RIGID PIPE AND FITTINGS

OR A PVC HUB WITH
A RUBBER SLEEVE. 
(INSERTA TEE)

DOWNSPOUT

FLEXSTORM CATCH-IT

LITE ASTM D8057

®

®

®

ULTIMATE

BYPASS AREA

WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FILTER BAG:

200 GPM/SQFT FLOW RATE

82% FILTRATION EFFICIENCY PER ASTM D

7351

{

INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS:

1. REMOVE GRATE FROM THE DRAINAGE STRUCTURE

2. CLEAN STONE AND DIRT FROM LEDGE (LIP) OF

DRAINAGE STRUCTURE

3. DROP THE FLEXSTORM INLET FILTER THROUGH

THE CLEAR OPENING SUCH THAT THE HANGERS REST

FIRMLY ON THE LIP OF THE STRUCTURE.

4. REPLACE THE GRATE AND CONFIRM IT IS NOT

ELEVATED MORE THAN  1/8”, THE THICKNESS OF

THE STEEL HANGERS.

12 GAUGE CORROSION

RESISTANT RIGID STEEL

FRAME

{
12" X 18" X 18 GA. STEEL SIGN

GREEN LETTERING, BORDER AND
ARROW WITH WHITE BACKGROUND.
WHITE HANDICAP SYMBOL IN  BLUE

GREEN LEGEND AND BORDER

12" X 6" X 18 GA. STEEL SIGN

WITH WHITE BACKGROUND.

ONE SIGN TO BE INSTALLED AT EACH ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACE

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN DETAIL

U-TYPE FLANGED STEEL SIGN
POST SET IN EARTH, IF OUTSIDE
PAVEMENT EDGE, OR IN CONCRETE
IF WITHIN PAVEMENT, TO A MINIMUM

R-59B NOTES

6
'-
8

"

ONE PARKING SPACE MINIMUM SHALL BE DESIGNATED AS
"VAN ACCESSIBLE".  LOCATION AS NOTED ON THE DRAWINGS.

NOTE:

N.T.S.

2.

2.

R-59C NOTES
1.

1.

BOX.

R-59C-12 (OHIO MANUAL OF UNIFORM

R-59B-12 (OHIO MANUAL OF UNIFORM
            TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES)

            TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES) 

GENERAL NOTES
1.

DEPTH OF 3'-0".

A
D

V
A
N
C
E
D

 D
R
.

S
H
AR

TS
 R

D
.COMMERCIAL WAY

W. LOWER SPRINGBORO RD.

S
. 
P
IO

N
E
E
R
 B

LV
D

.

S
. 
P
IO

N
E
E
R
 B

LV
D

.

M
O

N
T
G

O
M

E
R
Y
 L

N
.

Q
U
A
R
T
E
R
H
O

R
S
E
 D

R
.

W. LOWER SPRINGBORO RD.

W
E
ID

N
E
R
 R

D
.

W
. 
LO

W
E
R

S
P
R
IN

G
B
O

R
O

 R
D

.

F
A
C
T
O

R
Y
 R

D
.

FACTORY RD.
KESLING DR.

THE TOOLING ZONE PROPERTY

VICTORY DR.

C-1.1

DJW

BJR

3/25/21

21-16259

SITE PLAN

Revisions

Date

Drawn By

Checked By

Job Number

# Date Description

w
w

w
.f

e
rg

u
s
o
n
-c

o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
.c

o
m

Copyright © 2021
Ferguson Construction Company

The dissemination or duplication of this
architectural and engineering drawing is
prohibited without the prior written consent
of Ferguson Construction Company.

F
E
R
G
U
S
O
N

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
D

D
IT

IO
N

F
O

R

T
H

E
 T

O
O

L
IN

G
 Z

O
N

E
W

A
R

R
E

N
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
2
8
5
 S

 P
IO

N
E

E
R

 B
L
V

D
S

P
R

IN
G

B
O

R
O

, 
O

H
IO

 4
5
0
6
6

400 Canal Street
Sidney, OH 45365-0726
Phone: (937) 498-2381
Fax: (937) 498-2243

Sidney, Ohio

2201 Embury Park Road
Dayton, OH 45414-5544
Phone: (937) 274-1173
Fax: (937) 277-1379

Dayton, Ohio

3595 Johnny Appleseed Ct.
Columbus, OH 43231
Phone: (614) 876-8496
Fax: (614) 876-8155

Columbus, Ohio

7157 W. 200 N.
Greenfield, IN 46140
Phone: (317) 477-3615
Fax: (317) 477-3630

ENGINEER
FERGUSON CONSTRUCTION CO.

DOUGLAS L. FORTKAMP

400 CANAL STREET

SIDNEY, OH 45365

TEL: (937) 498-2381

FAX: (937) 498-2243

DOUG@FERGUSON-CONSTRUCTION.COM

ARCHITECT
FERGUSON CONSTRUCTION CO.

JOE MCGOVERN

400 CANAL STREET

SIDNEY, OH 45365

TEL: (937) 498-2381

FAX: (937) 498-2243

JMCGOVERN@FERGUSON-CONSTRUCTION.COM

OWNER
THE TOOLING ZONE

STEVE IIAMS (PRESIDENT & CEO)

285 S. PIONEER BLVD.

SPRINGBORO, OHIO 45066

TEL: (937) 550-4180

SIIAMS@TOOLINGZONE.COM



SCALE :OVERALL FLOOR PLAN 1/16" = 1'-0"

AREA OF WORK

SEE SHEET A-1.1 FOR FLOOR PLAN

Revisions

Copyright © 2020
Ferguson Construction Company

The dissemination or duplication of this
architectural and engineering drawing is
prohibited without the prior written consent
of Ferguson Construction Company.

F
E
R
G
U
S
O
N

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
D

D
IT

IO
N

F
O

R

T
H

E
 T

O
O

L
IN

G
 Z

O
N

E
W

A
R

R
E

N
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
2
8
5
 S

. 
P

IO
N

E
E

R
 B

L
V

D
.

S
P

R
IN

G
B

O
R

O
, 

O
H

IO
 4

5
0
6
6

Checked By

Drawn By

Date

Job Number

w
w

w
.f

e
rg

u
s
o
n
-c

o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
.c

o
m

# Date Description

400 Canal Street
Sidney, OH 45365-0726
Phone: (937) 498-2381
Fax: (937) 498-2243

Sidney, Ohio

2201 Embury Park Road
Dayton, OH 45414-5544
Phone: (937) 274-1173
Fax: (937) 277-1379

Dayton, Ohio

3595 Johnny Appleseed Ct
Columbus, OH 43231-4985
Phone: (614) 876-8496
Fax: (614) 876-8155

Columbus, Ohio

7157 W. 200 N.
Greenfield, IN 46140
Phone: (317) 477-3615
Fax: (317) 477-3630

Indianapolis, Indiana

PRELIMINARY

A-1.0

OVERALL FLOOR

PLAN

21-16259

3/26/21

JTS

JWM



150'-0"

25'-0"

7
6
'-
0
"

NEW

ADDITION

EXISTING

BUILDING

2
5
'-
0
"

2
6
'-
0
"

2
5
'-
0
"

SCALE :FLOOR PLAN 1/8" = 1'-0"

MANUFACTURING

1

25'-0"25'-0"25'-0"25'-0"25'-0"

5
'-
6
"

1
4
'-
0
"

1
'-
1
0
"3

'-
4
"

1
'-
4
"

1'-4"
3'-4"

DOORS
NO. OF

DOOR NOTES

HARDWARE FOR ALL EGRESS DOORS SHALL MAINTAIN THE DOORS READILY OPENABLE FROM THE SIDE FROM WHICH

EGRESS IS TO BE MADE WITHOUT THE USE OF A KEY OR SPECIAL KNOWLEDGE OR EFFORT. DRAW BOLTS, HOOKS, AND

OTHER SIMILAR DEVICES SHALL BE PROHIBITED ON ALL EGRESS DOORS. THE USE OF MANUALLY OPERATED FLUSH

BOLTS OR SURFACE BOLTS IS PROHIBITED. REFER TO SECTION 1003.0 GENERAL MEANS OF EGRESS OF THE OHIO

BUILDING CODE.

ALL DOORS TO BE FURNISHED W/ APPROVED HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE HARDWARE W/ LEVER TYPE HANDLES AND

HANDICAPPED TYPE CLOSERS.

ALL LOCKS TO BE ON A MASTER-KEYED SYSTEM APPROVED BY THE OWNER.

THE MAXIMUM FORCE REQUIRED FOR PUSHING AND/OR PULLING OPEN AN INTERIOR DOOR EQUIPPED WITH AN

AUTOMATIC DOOR CLOSER SHALL BE 5 POUNDS PER ICC A117.1 SECTION 404.2.8.

1B

1A

MARK
STRIPPING
WEATHER

7'-0"

14'-0"

1 3/4"

- 14'-0"

3'-0"

STL

HM

B

A

- - -

A HM

STL 2

1 YES YES

ELECMANUF.
BY DR.

YES

YES

DOOR  AND  FRAME  SCHEDULE

TK W

DOORS

HT MAT'LELEV GL LVR
THRESH

MAT'L

FRAMES

ELEV DTL
HOLD

CLSR

HARDWARE

LOCK
COMMENTS

- -

1. AT THE BOTTOM OF EXTERIOR H.M. DOORS PROVIDE A CONCEALED DOUBLE SEALING SWEEP MADE OF SYNTHETIC

MATERIAL, MODEL NO. PSO74 AS MANUFACTURED BY FAS-SEAL (OR EQUAL). WEATHERSTRIP TO BE RECESSED IN

THE BOTTOM CHANNEL OF THE DOOR.

2. ALL EXTERIOR HOLLOW METAL DOORS INSTALLED IN PRE-ENGINEERED BUILDING WALLS ARE TO BE FURNISHED BY

THE PRE-ENGINEERED BUILDING MANUFACTURER.

3. ALL EXTERIOR HOLLOW METAL DOORS SHALL INCLUDE MORTISE LOCKS AND LEVER HANDLES.  CYLINDER LOCK AND

KEYING BY HARDWARE SUPPLIER.

HARDWARE NOTES

1. ONE COAT PRIMER AND ONE COAT ENAMEL ON ALL OVERHEAD DOOR JAMBS, HEADS AND SILL ANGLES,

BUMPER POSTS AND OTHER EXPOSED MISCELLANEOUS METALS.

2. ONE COAT PRIMER AND ONE COAT INDUSTRIAL GRADE ACRYLIC LATEX ON ALL HOLLOW METAL DOORS AND

FRAMES.

3. ALL EXPOSED STRUCTURAL STEEL TO RECEIVE ONE REGULAR PRIME COAT SHOP APPLIED AND ONE COAT

SEMI-GLOSS SHERWIN-WILLIAMS DRY FALL SPRAY LATEX (OR EQUAL) IN COLOR TO MATCH EXISTING.

4. EXPOSED SERVICE PIPING, DUCTS AND CONDUIT TO BE UNPAINTED.  COLOR CODING OF MECHANICAL,

ELECTRICAL AND SPRINKLER SYSTEM NOT INCLUDED.

5. NEW EXTERIOR METAL WALL PANELS TO BE FIELD PAINTED WITH ONE COAT BONDING PRIMER AND ONE COAT

LATEX TO MATCH EXISTING.

6. ALL FINISH COATS OF PAINT TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE COVERAGE.

PAINTING NOTES

BASE

-

ROOM  FINISH  SCHEDULE

ROOM NAME
NO.

1 MANUFACTURING

FLOOR
SOUTHEASTNORTH

WALLS

EXIST.

WEST

WAINSCOT

HT.

8'-0"LP

COMMENTS
HT.

CEILING

ALL INTERIOR FINISHES MUST COMPLY WITH O.B.C. CHAPTER 8.

EXIST - EXISTING ROOM FINISH MATERIAL TO REMAIN.  REWORK AND/OR PATCH EXISTING WALLS, FLOORS, ETC., AS

REQUIRED.

EXP. CONC. - EXPOSED CONCRETE

EXP. INSUL. - EXPOSED INSULATION AND STRUCTURAL

LP -                 28 GA. METAL LINER PANEL

ROOM FINISH LEGEND

DOOR ELEVATIONS

FRAME ELEVATIONS

FRAME DETAILS

18 GAUGE FLUSH PANEL

METAL DOOR (DOORS TO

BE GALVANIZED AT

EXTERIOR OPENINGS ONLY)

A B

SECTIONAL STEEL OVERHEAD DOOR,

MIN. 2" THICK, INSULATION (MIN. R=6.7)

WITH STEEL BACKER PANELS,

WEATHERSTRIPPING, MAXIMUM HIGH LIFT

TRACK

16 GAUGE H.M. FRAME

(FRAMES TO BE GALVANIZED,

14 OR 16 GAUGE AT

EXTERIOR OPENINGS ONLY)

A

VARIES

V
A
R
IE

S

2"

2
"

2"

1

1

EXP.
CONC.

EXP.
INSUL.

EXP.
INSUL.

EXP.
INSUL. VARIES

EXP.
INSUL.

1C 7'-0"1 3/4" 3'-0" HMA A HM 1 YES YES YES- -1

6"

DOOR

JAMBDOOR POST

STRUCTURE

LINE

H.M. FRAME IN

METAL WALL PANELS

1

3 4
"

1 4
"

X

2" X 2" X 1/4" ANGLE WITH

1/2" DIA. X 6" LONG ANCHORS AT

2'-0" O/C WITH 1/2" X1/2" BAR

TACK WELDED AT THE BOTTOM

TO THE ANGLE

FIN. FLR. ELEV.

SLOPE AT

1/2" / 12"
31
2
"

#5 BARS, 16" LONG

DOWELED INTO FDN.

SLAB OVERPOUR @

8" O/C (TYP.)

3

STRUCTURE

LINE

DOOR POST

DOOR

TRIM

OVHD DOOR JAMB IN

METAL WALL PANELS

2

1 4
"

1. EXISTING CONSTRUCTION TO REMAIN.

2. X-ROD WALL PLANE BRACING.

3. DOWNSPOUT TO BE CONNECTED TO STORM LINE.

4. 6" DIAMETER X 7'-0" LONG CONCRETE FILLED STEEL GUARD POST, 4'-0" A.F.F.

SET IN MAX. 1/2 CUBIC YARD OF CONC. (TYP.)

5. 6" THICK POURED CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB REINFORCED WITH ONE LAYER 42#

W.W.F. ON 4" CUSHION OF GRANULAR MATERIAL.

6. 6" THICK POURED CONCRETE APRON REINFORCED WITH ONE LAYER 42# W.W.F.

ON COMPACTED OR UNDISTURBED EARTH.

7. 4" THICK POURED CONCRETE APRON REINFORCED WITH ONE LAYER 21# W.W.F.

ON COMPACTED OR UNDISTURBED EARTH.

8. NUCOR EXPOSED FASTENER 28 GA. METAL LINER PANELS TO 8'-0" A.F.F.

CONSTRUCTION NOTES

Y
3
'-
6
"

Y
 =

 4
'-
0
"

PULL SIDE

FRONT APPROACHES - SWINGING DOORS

HINGE SIDE APPROACHES - SWINGING DOORS

Y

X

PUSH SIDE

2'-0"

LATCH SIDE APPROACHES - SWINGING DOORS

1'-6"

MIN.

4
'-
0
" 2'-0"

PUSH SIDE

TWO HINGED DOORS IN SERIES TWO HINGED DOORS IN SERIES

PULL SIDE PUSH SIDE

DOOR THRESHOLD

2

1

1'-10"

5'-0" MIN.

5
'-
0
" 
M

IN
.

NOTE:               

X = 3'-0" MIN. IF Y = 5'-0"

X = 3'-6" MIN. IF Y = 4'-6"

5
'-
0
" 
M

IN
.

4'-0" MIN.

PULL SIDE

NOTE:            

IF DOOR HAS BOTH A

LATCH AND CLOSER

Y = 4'-0"

X = 1'-0"

X

NOTE:          

X = 1'-0" IF DOOR

HAS BOTH A LATCH

AND CLOSER

NOTE:          

Y = 4'-6" IF DOOR

HAS A CLOSER

NOTE:          

Y = 4'-0" IF DOOR

HAS A CLOSER

NOTE:                                

THRESHOLDS AT DOORWAYS SHALL BE 1/2 INCH

MAX. IN HEIGHT PER ICC A117.1 SECTION 404.2.4.

THRESHOLDS AT EXISTING OR ALTERED DOORWAYS

SHALL NOT EXCEED 3/4" IN HEIGHT PROVIDED THAT

THE THRESHOULD HAS A BEVELED EDGE ON EACH

SIDE WITH A MAX. SLOPE OF 1:2 FOR THE HEIGHT

EXCEEDING 1/4 INCH. 1 4
" 
M

A
X
.

V
E
R
T
IC

A
L

1 2
" 
M

A
X
.

Y
 =

 3
'-
6
"

5
'-
0
"

X

SCALE :ADA DETAILS 3/16" = 1'-0"

Revisions

Copyright © 2020
Ferguson Construction Company

The dissemination or duplication of this
architectural and engineering drawing is
prohibited without the prior written consent
of Ferguson Construction Company.

F
E
R
G
U
S
O
N

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
D

D
IT

IO
N

F
O

R

T
H

E
 T

O
O

L
IN

G
 Z

O
N

E
W

A
R

R
E

N
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
2
8
5
 S

. 
P

IO
N

E
E

R
 B

L
V

D
.

S
P

R
IN

G
B

O
R

O
, 

O
H

IO
 4

5
0
6
6

Checked By

Drawn By

Date

Job Number

w
w

w
.f

e
rg

u
s
o
n
-c

o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
.c

o
m

# Date Description

400 Canal Street
Sidney, OH 45365-0726
Phone: (937) 498-2381
Fax: (937) 498-2243

Sidney, Ohio

2201 Embury Park Road
Dayton, OH 45414-5544
Phone: (937) 274-1173
Fax: (937) 277-1379

Dayton, Ohio

3595 Johnny Appleseed Ct
Columbus, OH 43231-4985
Phone: (614) 876-8496
Fax: (614) 876-8155

Columbus, Ohio

7157 W. 200 N.
Greenfield, IN 46140
Phone: (317) 477-3615
Fax: (317) 477-3630

Indianapolis, Indiana

PRELIMINARY

A-1.1

ENLARGED

FLOOR PLAN,

SCHEDULES

21-16259

3/26/21

JTS

JWM



NEW

ADDITION

EXISTING

BUILDING

NUCOR METAL ROOF

PANELS
NUCOR STANDARD GUTTER

& DOWNSPOUTS

NUCOR METAL

WALL PANELS

SCALE :SOUTH ELEVATION 1/8" = 1'-0"

SCALE :1
WALL SECTION

1/2" = 1'-0"

12

1

• • • • • • •

4
"

7
'-
6

"
5

'-
0

"

STRUCTURAL LINE &

OUTSIDE FACE OF

FOUNDATION WALL

EAVE STRUT

8" WALL GIRT

SIDEWALL COLUMN

BEYOND

6" THICK, 3500 PSI

POURED CONCRETE FLOOR SLAB

REINF. W/ ONE LAYER 42# W.W.F.

ON 4" THICK CUSHION FILL

CONCRETE PIER & FOOTING

BEYOND

2" THICK PERIMETER INSULATION,

FM & UL APPROVED

BASE ANGLE, TRIM

& FOAM CLOSURE

POURED CONCRETE

FROST WALL

NUCOR 'REVERSE CLASSIC'

EXPOSED FASTENER

26 GA. METAL WALL PANELS

WITH 6" THICK (R=19)

WHITE VINYL FACED

FIBERGLASS BLANKET

INSULATION

NUCOR STANDARD

GUTTER & DOWNSPOUTS

EXPOSED FASTENER

28 GA. METAL LINER

PANELS TO 8'-0"

A.F.F.

1
5

'-
1

1
1 4
"V

A
R
IE

S

•••••••

EXISTING ENDWALL

COLUMN BEYOND

EXISTING WALL PANELS AND

INSULATION TO REMAIN.

EXISTING RAKE TRIM TO

BE REMOVED AND ROOF

EXPANSION JOINT

INSTALLED

STRUCTURAL LINE

EXISTING METAL ROOF PANELS

AND INSULATION TO REMAIN.

1'-4"

EXISTING ENDWALL

BEAM

•••••••••

NEW

ADDITION

EXISTING

BUILDING

EXISTING

FOUNDATION WALL

INSTALL 1/2" THICK

EXPANSION BOARD ON

WOOD BLOCKING

1'-4"

7
'-
6

"

V
A
R
IE

S

••••••

4
"

FINISH FLOOR

ELEVATION

POURED CONCRETE

FROST WALL
2" TK. PERIMETER

INSULATION FM &

UL APPROVED.

ENDWALL COLUMN

BEYOND

NON-EXPANDABLE

ENDWALL BEAM

RAKE TRIM AND

RAKE ANGLE

STRUCTURAL LINE AND

OUTSIDE FACE OF THE

FOUNDATION WALL

5
'-
0

"

SCALE :2
WALL SECTION

1/2" = 1'-0"SCALE :3
WALL SECTION

1/2" = 1'-0"

NUCOR 'REVERSE CLASSIC'

EXPOSED FASTENER

26 GA. METAL WALL PANELS

WITH 6" THICK (R=19)

WHITE VINYL FACED

FIBERGLASS BLANKET

INSULATION

NUCOR CONCEALED FASTENER

24 GA. METAL ROOF PANELS

WITH (2) LAYERS OF 4" TK.

R=13 WHITE VINYL FACED

FIBERGLASS BLANKET

INSULATION.

NUCOR CONCEALED

FASTENER 24 GA. METAL

ROOF PANELS WITH (2)

LAYERS OF 4" TK. R=13

WHITE VINYL FACED

FIBERGLASS BLANKET

INSULATION.

SCALE :EAST ELEVATION 1/8" = 1'-0"

12
1

NEW

ADDITION

EXISTING

BUILDING
NUCOR METAL ROOF

PANELS
NUCOR STANDARD GUTTER

& DOWNSPOUTS

NUCOR METAL

WALL PANELS
NUCOR METAL

WALL PANELS

SCALE :NORTH ELEVATION 1/8" = 1'-0"

12
1

Revisions

Copyright © 2020
Ferguson Construction Company

The dissemination or duplication of this
architectural and engineering drawing is
prohibited without the prior written consent
of Ferguson Construction Company.

F
E
R
G
U
S
O
N

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
D

D
IT

IO
N

F
O

R

T
H

E
 T

O
O

L
IN

G
 Z

O
N

E
W

A
R

R
E

N
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
2
8
5
 S

. 
P

IO
N

E
E

R
 B

L
V

D
.

S
P

R
IN

G
B

O
R

O
, 

O
H

IO
 4

5
0
6
6

Checked By

Drawn By

Date

Job Number

w
w

w
.f

e
rg

u
s
o
n
-c

o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
.c

o
m

# Date Description

400 Canal Street
Sidney, OH 45365-0726
Phone: (937) 498-2381
Fax: (937) 498-2243

Sidney, Ohio

2201 Embury Park Road
Dayton, OH 45414-5544
Phone: (937) 274-1173
Fax: (937) 277-1379

Dayton, Ohio

3595 Johnny Appleseed Ct
Columbus, OH 43231-4985
Phone: (614) 876-8496
Fax: (614) 876-8155

Columbus, Ohio

7157 W. 200 N.
Greenfield, IN 46140
Phone: (317) 477-3615
Fax: (317) 477-3630

Indianapolis, Indiana

PRELIMINARY

A-3.1

BUILDING

ELEVATIONS,

 WALL SECTION

21-16259

3/26/21

JTS

JWM







 

9753 CRESENT PARK DR
WEST CHESTER, OH 45069
513-761-6360

Date:3/9/2021By: C.B.

LIGHTING PROPOSAL:

Scale:
AS NOTED

A. BASED ON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED, ALL DIMENSIONS AND LUMINAIRE LOCATIONS SHOWN REPRESENT RECOMMENDED POSITIONS.

THE ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT MUST DETERMINE THE APPLICABILITY OF THE LAYOUT TO EXISTING OR FUTURE FIELD CONDITIONS.

B. THIS LIGHTING PLAN REPRESENTS ILLUMINATION LEVELS CALCULATED FROM LABORATORY DATA TAKEN UNDER CONTROLLED

CONDITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ILLUMINATING ENGINEERING SOCIETY (IES) APPROVED METHODS. ACTUAL PERFORMANCE OF

ANY MANUFACTURER'S LUMINAIRES MAY VARY DUE TO CHANGES IN ELECTRICAL VOLTAGE, TOLERANCE IN LAMPS/LED'S AND OTHER

CALCULATION NOTES:

VARIABLE FIELD CONDITIONS.

C. CALCULATIONS SHOWN ARE MAINTAINED ILLUMINANCE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

D. CALCULATIONS ARE TAKEN AT GRADE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

E.   Outdoor lighting shall be designed to achieve uniform illumination levels. The ratio of the average light level of the surface being lit to the lowest light level

of the surface being lit, measured in foot-candles, shall not exceed a ratio of 4-to-1. In no case shall the maximum to minimum light levels exceed a ratio of

SPRINGBORO, OH CODIFIED ORDINANCES CHAPTER 1273, Exterior Lighting

10-to-1 between any 2 points on a lot.

N.   The following illumination levels shall act as minimum standards for all exterior lighting. Maximum lighting will be governed by the 4-to-1 ratio of average

to minimum illumination of the surface being lit standards identified in subsection (a)(3)E. above; in no case shall the maximum lighting level exceed the

maximum identified in the table below:

Parking lots and associated circulation areas

0.4 Minimum

6.0 Maximum

BRLC21-010

THE TOOLING ZONE
285 S PIONEER BLVD
SPRINGBORO, OHIO 45066

SHEET
1 OF 1

REV: 1

Calculation Summary
Project: Base Bid
Label CalcType Units Avg Max Min Avg/Min Max/Min
Existing Paved Surfaces Illuminance Fc 0.97 5.9 0.0 N.A. N.A.
Existing Truck Dock Illuminance Fc 1.53 5.5 0.4 3.83 13.75
Property Boundary Illuminance Fc 0.24 3.3 0.0

Luminaire Schedule
Project: Base Bid

N.A. N.A.
Proposed Parking Area Illuminance Fc 2.87 6.0 0.8 3.59 7.50

Symbol Label Qty LLF Lum. Lumens Manufacturer Series Tilt Mounting Height
A 2 0.900 21156 RZ E-APR19A-T340B 50 DEG. 25' AFG
W1 9 0.900 5316 SIGNIFY   GARDCO 101L-32L-530-NW-G1-4 0 DEG. 12' AFG

Scale: 1 inch= 20 Ft.

����

�
�
�

��	�	
��
�����

����

�
�

�
�



�
	
�
�

	
�

 �
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�

�
�



�
	
�
�

	
�

 �
�
�
�

�
�
�

���
������	�
����
����
�
�����

�
�
�

�
�

�
	
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�

�
	
�
�
�

�
	
	
�



�	
�
�

�
	
	
�



�	
�
�

���

�������
� ��
�
�!���

	���
����
���

�
�
�

"
�
�





�
�
�

"
�
�





���
��
" ���
�	
�

#

$���%%%

�	��

���
���"�
����

�&�
�'
�	�
�
(���
����
�
(���

�&�
�'
�	�
�
(���
����
�
(��(

�&�
�'
�	�
�
(���
����
�
(��#

�&�
�'
�	�
�
(���
����
�
(���

�&�
�'
�	�
�
((�#
����
�
(#�(

�&�
���

�
&
�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
&
�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�&�
��
"���

�
&
�

�
�

�&�
�� �&�
���

�&�
���

�&�
���

���
�� "

�&�
�'
�	�
�
(���

�&�

������)

����
�����
�����




�&�
��������

����
�����
�����




�&�
��������

�&�
�� �)
�	�)

�&�
����� �&�
����� �&�
�����

�
	
	
�



� 	
�
�

�
	
	
�



� 	
�
�

�
	
	
�



� 	
�
�

�
	
	
�



� 	
�
�

�&�
	�!�
�		�

�&�
�������	�
'�
��

�&�
�!

�

 #
%
%
�
*�
�
�*
�
�
� 

�







�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��%%�*���*���
�




�����(�



��%%�*���*���
�




��#��(�

�

�
%
%
�
*�
�
�*
�
�
�

�







 �
�
�
��
�
�







�#����


��+*���*���
�

(�
���)��"

��'��)
(�
���)��"

��'��)

(�
���)��"

��'��)
(�
���)��"

��'��)

(
�

�
�
�
)
��
"



�
�
'
�
�
)

(
�

�
�
�
)
��
"



�
�
'
�
�
)

���
���

�
�
�

 �
�

�
�
�

 �
�

�
�
�

 �
�

�
�
�

 �
�

���
���

���
��
�
����


��

�&�
�	

�&� �&��&�

A

A

W1

W1 W1 W1 W1

W1 W1

W1

W1

0.8 1.1 1.6 3.3 5.5

0.8 1.1 1.6 3.0 4.8

0.8 0.9 1.3 2.0 2.3

0.8 0.7 0.9 1.1 1.1

0.8 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.4

1.9 2.3 1.9 1.4 1.1 0.8

3.0 3.3 2.6 1.9 1.3 0.9

4.4 4.5 3.4 2.3 1.6 1.1

5.8 5.5 4.0 2.6 1.7 1.2

6.0 5.7 4.1 2.7 1.8 1.2

4.8 5.0 3.8 2.6 1.8 1.2

3.6 4.0 3.2 2.4 1.7 1.2

2.8 3.3 2.8 2.2 1.6 1.2

2.4 3.0 2.6 2.1 1.6 1.2

2.7 3.2 2.7 2.1 1.6 1.2

3.5 3.9 3.2 2.3 1.7 1.2

4.8 4.9 3.7 2.6 1.8 1.3

6.0 5.7 4.2 2.8 1.9 1.3

5.9 5.6 4.1 2.9 2.1 1.6

4.5 4.7 3.8 3.0 2.5 2.1

3.3 3.2

0.6 0.9 0.9 0.8 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0

0.9 1.3 1.3 1.0 0.8 0.7 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0

0.6 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0

0.7 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1

0.8 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.7 0.8 0.7 0.5 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.6 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.6 0.7 0.6 0.4 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.7 0.5 0.4 0.6 1.0 1.4 1.6 1.4 1.0 0.6 0.6 1.0 1.4 1.4 1.2 0.8 0.5 0.7 1.1 1.4 1.4 1.0 0.7 0.6 0.9 1.3 1.5 1.3 0.9 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.7 0.5 0.5 0.9 1.5 2.6 3.5 2.9 1.7 1.0 1.0 1.7 2.9 3.4 2.3 1.3 0.9 1.2 2.1 3.3 3.1 1.9 1.1 0.9 1.5 2.7 3.5 2.8 1.5 0.7 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.7 0.6 0.6 1.0 1.9 3.6 5.7 4.4 2.0 0.9 0.9 2.0 4.5 5.6 3.2 1.4 0.7 1.2 2.7 5.4 5.0 2.3 1.0 0.7 1.6 3.8 5.7 4.1 1.9 0.7 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.8 0.7 0.9 1.2 1.2 0.7 0.9 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0

0.8 1.0 1.3 2.1 2.5 2.2 2.0 1.2 0.6 0.1 0.0 0.0

5.1 3.6 1.8 0.8 0.2 0.0 0.0

5.8 3.8 1.9 0.8 0.2 0.0 0.0

2.7 2.3 1.4 0.6 0.2 0.0 0.0

1.0 1.4 1.0 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.0

0.8 1.3 0.9 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.0

2.0 1.9 1.2 0.6 0.2 0.0 0.0

4.8 3.5 1.8 0.8 0.2 0.0 0.0

5.9 3.9 1.9 0.8 0.2 0.0 0.0

2.9 2.5 1.4 0.7 0.2 0.0 0.0

0.5 0.1 0.0 0.0

0.5 0.2 0.0 0.0

0.7 0.2 0.1 0.0

3.9 2.2 0.9 0.4 0.1 0.0

4.7 2.5 1.0 0.4 0.1 0.0

3.1 1.9 0.8 0.4 0.1 0.0

1.1 0.6 0.2 0.0 0.0

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.10.10.10.10.10.10.10.10.20.20.20.30.30.40.40.50.60.60.50.2
0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.4

1.2

2.6

3.1

2.0

0.9

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.5

1.4

2.9

3.3

2.1

0.9

0.3

0.4 1.5 2.0

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1
0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.00.00.0











































February 2021 

EASTON FARM
DESIGN GUIDELINES

SPRINGBORO, OHIO



Table of Contents

01	 INTRODUCTION

1.	 Project introduction

2.	 Master Plan

02	MIXED USE 
NEIGHBORHOOD CENTER

1.	 Allowable Occupancies

2.	 Lot Requirements

3.	 Site Development
(a)	 Street Design and Materials
(b)	 Street Right-of-Way (ROW)
(c)	 Utility Easements along Streets
(d)	 Street Radii Corner Radii & Clear Zones
(e)	 Utility and Equipment Locations
(f)	 Utility and Equipment Screening
(g)	 Service/Loading Area Screening
(h)	 Loading Space Requirements
(i)	 Loading in Required Yards
(j)	 Screen Wall Construction and Materials
(k)	 Fencing.
(l)	 Open Space Area Requirements

4.	 Building Design
(a)	 Architectural Character 
(b)	 Orientation to Street
(c)	 Orientation of Windows and Doors
(d)	 Glass Materials
(e)	 Building Materials

(f)	 Rooflines
(g)	 Visible Roofing Materials
(h)	 Building Heights
(i)	 Larger format retailers, entertainment 

venues or other commercial uses, where 
taller interior spaces is the normative

(j)	 	 Building Massing

5.	 Colors
(a)	 Color Variation
(b)	 Color Consistency

6.	 Landscaping
(a)	 Plant Material Selection
(b)	 Surface Parking Area Screening
(c)	 Surface Parking Area Landscape Area 

Requirements
(d)	 Exemptions
(e)	 Planting Island Requirements
(f)	 Screening Materials
(g)	 Street Trees
(h)	 Street Furniture
(i)	 Registered Professional Required
(j)	 Maintenance

7.	 Outdoor Lighting
(a)	 Outdoor Lighting
(b)	 Street Lighting
(c)	 Decorative Accent/Architectural 

Lighting

8.	 Outdoor Storage
(a)	 Screening
(b)	 Storage/Screened Service Area Design



Design Guidelines 3

(b)	 Service ways
(c)	 Lot Coverage
(d)	 Building Fronts and Backs

5.	 Residential Building Materials

6.	 Residential Roof Materials

7.	 Parking Requirements
(a)	 Minimum Residential Space 

Requirements
(b)	 On-Street & Structured Parking
(c)	 Shared parking solutions

8.	 Access to Off-Street Parking
(a)	 Access from Service ways
(b)	 Connection of Service ways to Adjacent 

Properties
(c)	 Corner lots
(d)	 Garage door(s)

9.	 Parking Lot Landscaping Requirements
(a)	 Landscape Island/Beds

10.	 General Ancillary Restrictions

11.	 Residential Typologies

04	OVERALL LANDSCAPE 
AND FEATURE PARK 
GUIDELINES

1.	 Introduction

2.	 Central Green

3.	 Linear Park

4.	 Street Trees, Landscape and Hardscape 
Features.

5.	 Neighborhood Parks

05	GLOSSARY/ DEFINITIONS

(c)	 Visibility from Public Right-of-Way
(d)	 Accessory Structures

9.	 Vehicular and Pedestrian Circulation
(a)	 Safety
(b)	 Pedestrian Circulation
(c)	 Sidewalks
(d)	 Sidewalks and Buildings
(e)	 Sidewalk Width
(f)	 Open Space/Gathering Spaces

10.	 Off-Street Parking Requirements
(a)	 Size of parking spaces and aisles
(b)	 Number of parking spaces required
(c)	 Shared Parking
(d)	 Off-Street Surface Parking Lot Placement
(e)	 Structured Parking Lot Placement

11.	 Drainage and Water Detention
(a)	 Detention as an Amenity
(b)	 Impact on Surrounding Properties

12.	 Signage/Environmental Graphics/Tenant 
Signs
(a)	 Project Signage/Brand
(b)	 Individual Project and/or Tenant Sign 

Criteria
(c)	 Comprehensive Sign Guidelines

03	RESIDENTIAL AREA 
STANDARDS

1.	 Allowable Occupancies

2.	 Orientation.

3.	 Signage

4.	 Site Development.
(a)	 Maximum Block Size.



Easton Farm4

Table of Contents 



Design Guidelines 5

Introduction | 01

thereby eliminating multiple front driveways 
and allowing for a series of un-interrupted 
sidewalks, bike paths, greenways, interspersed 
with community amenities that encourage 
pedestrian interconnection and walkability 
both within The Easton Farm site, and through 
to the adjacent city parks and neighborhoods. 

These interconnected green spaces and 
pathways are designed to connect to 
smaller internal neighborhood parks and 
open spaces that are judiciously placed 
throughout The Easton Farm, and will 
feature play areas, shade structures, seating 
areas, dog parks and significant passive, 
and well-landscaped green spaces.  Tree-
lined streets will connect these residential 
neighborhoods to the mixed-use district 
close to S. R. 741 and to its retail, restaurant, 
office, central park, and service offerings.

PROJECT  INTRODUCTION

Easton Farm looks to develop a new in-
town neighborhood on the historic ‘Easton 
Farm’ site in the City of Springboro 
Ohio, located on the west side of State 
Route 741, between Anna Drive and 
Gardner Park to the north, and North 
Park and Tamarack Trail on the south.

The Easton Farm concept takes inspiration 
from the townscapes of small, historic 
Ohio villages, while incorporating 
updated ideas for streetscapes, parks, 
open spaces and connective pathways 
as a platform for a variety of market-
rate residences and a mixed-use 
commercial district facing Route 741.  

The residences within these new 
neighborhoods are scaled to the street, with 
most featuring garages placed along mid-
block service ways that are landscaped, 

Easton Farm 
Illustrative Master Plan



Easton Farm6

MIXED USE NEIGHBORHOOD CENTER

O2

6

The purpose of this Article is to allow for 
flexibility that will allow for the overall Easton 
Farm development to become a walkable, 
integrated mixed-use, in-town neighborhood 
with the following emphases:
•	Building design criteria that allows for unified 

and creative interpretations of traditional 
and potentially more contemporary design 
vernaculars, motifs and building materials, 
provided the final design creates a visually 
complementary, integrated urban village 
environment;

•	Residential and mixed-use neighborhoods, 
activity areas, and open space(s) crafted 
around a well-defined transportation/
circulation network where pedestrian activity 
is strongly emphasized and judiciously 
integrated with vehicular streetscapes, service 
and parking areas;

•	Identifying and locating market-driven 
retail, café, restaurant, personal care and/
or business service offerings where they can 
best generate high pedestrian activity, along 
ground floor locations, below potential office 
space, hospitality, or residential units on upper 
floors;

•	A site plan that can defines and accommodate 
options where commercial/retail, office, 
institutional and public spaces can optimally 

be incorporated into the overall neighborhood 
fabric.

•	Residential areas that are either built above, 
adjacent or within close/walkable proximity 
of new commercial uses, places of work 
or dedicated public open spaces and/or 
amenities;

•	An emphasis on developing neighborhoods 
where new and existing residents and visitors 
can live, work and play, and interconnected 
with a multiuse path and linear park.

1.	 Permitted Uses 
The The following uses are permitted within 
the mixed-use neighborhood adjacent to S.R. 
741:
(a)	 Specialty retail including apparel, 

fashion accessories, home goods, 
sporting goods, hobbies, gifts, specialty 
packaged/prepared foods, large(r) 
footprint retail/anchors (potentially) 
up to 35k s.f., temporary or ‘pop-up’ 
retail/vendors, kiosk-based retail/ food 
vendors, service businesses, personal 
service businesses, financial services, 
grocery and or specialty foods market 
(not to exceed 15k s.f.) personal care 
services (salons and spas), professional 
retail services (for example, florists/



Design Guidelines 7

printing/copying, dry cleaner, shoe 
repair, real estate/escrow, or similar).

(b)	 Restaurants, cafés, bistros, nightclubs 
and bars

(c)	 Offices and professional services, 
medical, dental, pet care, financial/ 
investment service offices, real estate, 
escrow/ title, educational, training 
facilities, schools and specialized 
academic tutoring operations.

(d)	 Multi-family, multi-level residential, 
with potential for portions of it to be 
above retail, office or other first floor 
uses.

(e)	 Senior Lifestyle, multi-family, multi-
level residential including; 55+ Active 
Adult, Independent and/or Assisted 
Living, and Memory Care Facilities. A 
portion of any such development(s) may 
be located over ground level commercial 
and/ or covered parking depending on 
the specific site condition and location.

(f)	 Entertainment and recreational venues 
(g)	 Theater, cinemas or live performance 

venues
(h)	 Conference and meeting facilities.
(i)	 Parking, including street and surface 

lots/garages
(j)	 Public and Institutional uses
(k)	 Accessory structure uses
(l)	 Open Spaces and Event spaces
(m)	 Other, as approved by the Master 

Developer and the City consistent with 
goals set forth in this text.

(n)	 Mixed Use - Ground Floor Uses: The 
ground floor of buildings in the mixed-
use Retail/Commercial neighborhood 
shall be restricted to retail business, 
restaurants/bars, cafés, professional 
services, and other uses that tend to 
encourage street level pedestrian-
oriented activity. The Master Developer 
and City will work to encourage 
storefront designs that create a vibrant, 

pedestrian oriented, neighborhood 
environment.

(o)	 Mixed-Use - Upper Level Floor Uses: 
Offices, medical, and/or residential uses 
in the Multiple Use Retail/ Commercial 
Area buildings should be encouraged on 
any or all upper floors of the building 
where feasible. 

(p)	 Public and Institutional Uses: 
The Property may include a mix of 
community and city buildings, meeting 
halls, libraries, post offices, schools, 
public recreational facilities, museums, 
performing arts centers or other uses 
permitted by the Master Developer and 
the City, and may be located within or 
adjacent to open spaces and parks. 
 
Where possible, civic uses should 
be sited and designed with key 
architectural features that help define 
its character, and/or to be at the end of 
street vista(s) or centered on an open 
space or plaza. Such uses may utilize 
shared parking, however any required 
off street parking shall be located in rear 
yards. Parking needs will be assessed by 
the Master Developer and City as part of 
any submission.

2.	 Lot Requirements
(a)	 Lot requirements are defined in the 

following table based upon the usage 
classification indicated. The definitions 
for each classification appear below 
the table. If there is a question as to 
the appropriate usage classification 
for a user, the City will determine the 
most appropriate classification at its 
discretion.



Easton Farm8

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

USAGE

MINIMUM LOT 
WIDTH OR 

AREA

MINIMUM OPEN 
SPACE

FRONT 
YARD 

SETBACK

SUM OF 
SIDE YARD 
SETBACK5

REAR YARD 
SETBACK

MAXIMUM 
OCCUPIED 

HEIGHT

MINIMUM 
OCCUPIED 

HEIGHT

Freestanding, Single 
Use Retail/Commercial 
Services1

50’

25% 
within the 

development

0’ 0’ 0’ 2 stories 1 story

Multiple Use/Retail/ 
Commercial Services2 75’ 0’ 0’ 0’ 3 stories 1 story

Office3 75’ 0’ 0’ 0’ 3 stories 1 story

Multi Family Residential 
Areas4

5,000 sf <10’ 0’ 15’ 4 stories -

Single Family Attached 8-30 du/ac <10’ 0’ 0’ *2 stories  1 story

Multi-Family Attached 18-65 du/ac <10’ 0’ 0’ 4 stories 1 story

Accessory Structures 500 sf - - - - 2 stories -

* except where roof deck occupancy is permitted

 

1.	 Freestanding, Single Use Retail/Commercial Services (In ‘pad’ or ‘lot’ locations.) These uses include: non-specialty retail, 
medium/large format ‘anchors’, commercial businesses, personal care services, pet care or veterinarian services, financial 
services, restaurants/ bars, cafés or specialty foods, educational services, automotive services, sales and/or repair, child 
daycare centers and other uses located on individual lots.

2.	 Multiple Use Retail/Commercial Services.  Primary uses include specialty retail, apparel and/or accessories, home goods, 
gifts, medium or larger format general merchandise retailers including department stores, restaurants/bars, specialty foods, 
entertainment facilities, public services, retail service businesses, business and personal services, personal care services pet 
care or veterinarian services, small professional offices and/ or financial services, and educational services, to be built along 
a streetscape orientation that fosters a lively pedestrian atmosphere.

3.	 Office.  Primary uses include professional offices and services, medical offices and/or laboratories, essential services 
including walk-in medical and/or pet care, and educational uses. Secondary uses may include live/work residential per the 
discretion of the City.

4.	 Multi-Family Residential Area.  Area includes single-family attached dwellings, such as town houses or duplex units, multi-
family attached dwellings, apartments and condominiums, assisted and/or independent living residences, senior housing, 
and live/work hybrid residential units. Lot widths, Maximum Occupied Height and Minimum Occupied Height are set forth 
separately for Single Family Attached and Multi-Family Attached units.

5.	 Structure Setbacks.  To foster and create a series of traditionally inspired, urban-scaled, pedestrian oriented, walkable 
streetscape environments, within an integrated mixed-use, urban village district, no more than 50% of any Structure shall 
be set further back than the setback or build-to line location that fronts on a pedestrian walk area. Where setbacks do 
occur, they should be to create visual interest, break down scale and massing, and should not form a large break in the 
street wall effect, except to create a pocket for entries, arrivals, small public or semi-public gathering spaces, or to work 
around a service or operational requirement.



Design Guidelines 9

3.	 Site Development 
In keeping with the design intent to create a 
series of integrated mixed-use neighborhoods, 
this section for public roads may vary from 
Springboro subdivision standards and shall 
be submitted for review and approval to the 
Master Developer and the City.
(a)	 Street Design and Materials 

Beyond the likely predominant use of 
either conventional asphalt or concrete 
use of differing specialty paving 
materials is strongly encouraged. Such 
materials as brick, cobblestone, pavers, 
colored or infused concrete, stamped 
and colored asphalt pavement and/or 
other pavement products, to demarcate 
special pedestrian walk and/or activity 
zones, dual pedestrian/vehicular 
crossing areas, feature street surfaces, 
crosswalks, pathways, unique ‘arrival’ 
zones, plazas and entries. Where viable, 
such areas may be set to ‘zero curb’ 
elevations to facilitate ease of pedestrian 
use, and as a visual cue for traffic 
calming in these specific areas. 
 
Such zones or feature streets may 
have vehicular and pedestrian areas 
segregated by use of either fixed or 
removable bollards that can be removed 
for programmed or promotional events. 
For specific site development areas 
within public roadways, pavement 
and substrate design must be based on 
calculations that anticipate future traffic 
conditions and must be submitted to and 
approved by the Master Developer and 
the City. Creation of roadways featuring 
landscaped islands, boulevards, arrival 
courts and roundabouts are also 
encouraged where feasible.

A pedestrian-friendly street using flush curbs, bollards, and 
richly textured materials to demarcate various spaces.

Street crossing emphasized with speacialty paving and 
bollards. 

A finely detailed arrival court serves as an interface between 
vehicular and pedestrian space.



Easton Farm10

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

(b)	 Street Right-of-Way (ROW) 
The Easton Farm Conceptual 
Development Plan contains a series of 
right-of-way (“ROW”) widths. All initial 
development will front on a first-phase 
series of streets that will become the 
primary access points into and through 
the development, from both S.R. 741 and 
Tamarack Trail . These roadways will 
vary in design depending on service 
level for that particular street or access 
way, service drive or entry. 
 
There are five right-of-way widths, 
from a multi-lane, divided boulevard, 
to internal streets that accommodate 
a center turn lane, parallel parking on 
either side, to a one-way street, with 
both angle-in and parallel parking. 
 
The key dimensions include travel lanes 
of twelve feet (12’), twenty-four foot 
(24’) (face of curb to face of curb) two-
lane roadways, and eighteen foot (18’) 
one-way road lanes, parallel parking 
spaces at eight feet (8’) wide (face of curb 
to edge of pavement), and a sidewalk/ 
landscape area on each side of no 
less than twelve feet (12’), featuring a 
sidewalk of no less than six feet (6’) on 
each side. The remaining areas on each 
side to be landscape buffer, up to either 
a building, setback line, landscape area, 
or adjacent building or property line. 
 
Additional dimensional width is added 
for the following uses:

•	For an additional parallel parking lane, add 8’ 
feet width x 23’ feet per space.

•	For each additional travel lane and/or center 
turn lane, add twelve feet (12’) for through 
lanes and ten feet (10’) for turn lanes.

•	To add angled-in parking on any one side, 
add an additional twenty feet (20’) for angled 
parking and eighteen feet (18’) for one-way 
drive aisles.

•	The primary landscaped median areas in 
the center of two way boulevard entrances 
roadways shall be no less than ten feet (10’) 
face of curb to face of curb. Current plan 
shows a portion of each entry median at 
Easton Way and S.R. 741 as concrete with a 
width that varies between three feet (3’) and 
seven feet (7’).

	 These dimensions ensure that streets 
developed within the mixed-use urban 
village are developed to help shorten/
make more secure pedestrian crossings 
and inhibit drivers from traveling at 
high speeds within and through the 
development/neighborhoods. 
 
For specific site development 
enhancements that do not fall within 
these basic ROW guidelines, such 
as roundabouts, arrival courts, and 
streetscape features (such as street 
furniture, water features, sculpture, 
accessory structure, hardscape/
landscape features) and/or in 
combination with on-street parking, 
deviation from these ROW requirements 
may be permitted, with the approval of 
the City. This will be assessed in context 
with a specific development’s design 
intent, in context with any existing 
adjacent development, especially if any 
such deviation adds to the pedestrian 
experience of the Property.

(c)	 Utility Easements along Streets 
All public street utility easements 
shall fit within planned street ROW’s 
or in dedicated service lanes where 
possible, and are to be located under 
pavement, landscape and sidewalk 
areas as necessary. Deviation from this 
requirement will be considered by the 
Master Developer and City, and only 
for specific site conditions that prove a 
variation is necessary.



Design Guidelines 11

(d)	 Street Radii Corner Radii & Clear 
Zones 
Corner curb radii shall be between 
eight feet (8’) and twenty-five feet (25’) 
as determined by the intended use 
(residential areas up to fifteen feet (15’), 
and mixed use areas up to twenty-five 
feet (25’). These tighter turning radii are 
intended to shorten pedestrian crossings 
and inhibit drivers from turning corners 
at high speeds. To allow emergency 
vehicles (e.g. fire ladder trucks) to turn 
corners, a twenty-five foot (25’) radius 
Clear Zone may need to be established 
free of all vertical obstructions including 
but not limited to street lighting poles, 
decorative bollards, wayfinding signage, 
sign poles, fire hydrants, utility boxes, 
or dense vegetation landscaping or 
street trees. Curve and radius data and 
intersection details for public roads shall 
be submitted for review and approval 
to the Master Developer and the City. 
Where viable, the curve should also be 
used to create ‘bump-out’ landscape and 
pedestrian areas that cap rows of either 
parallel or angle-in parking spaces.

(e)	 Utility and Equipment Locations 
All utility, telecommunication and 
landscape irrigation distribution 
lines shall be located underground 
preferably within street right-of-ways, 
with all visible, in-ground utility access 
boxes placed as to not interfere with 
building pads, sidewalks, pathways 
and other pedestrian zones, light poles, 
wayfinding, directional or other street 
signage, parking areas, landscaping 
other than trees. This would also include 
submitting  integrated plan(s) prior 
to installation, from both the master 
developer and any other subsequent 
developer entity that needs to place such 
devices as to not be in conflict with any 
existing or prior proposed utility items. 

Small corner curb radii reinforce pedestian-friendly areas by 
shortening crossing distances and slowing cars.

Small turning radius reduces crosswalk distances, while larger 
turning radius is accomodated with bollards and a flush curb.

Utility cabinets should placed discretely (to the side or rear 
of building) and screened with plant materials.



Easton Farm12

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

This is to avoid redundant placement of 
light poles and fixtures or to avoid the 
potential to visually clutter or impede 
corners, sight lines, pedestrian ways or 
streetscapes. All utility providers and/or 
governmental agencies requiring similar 
placements for transformers, traffic 
control equipment, telecommunication 
pedestals, electrical cabinets, metering, 
exposed pipes and/or valves, and any 
other mechanical equipment or devices 
requiring above-ground placement in 
areas visible to the pubic and residents 
that are considered common areas, will 
also be required to submit and integrate 
with the master developer and any 
other adjacent private development 
entities.  Any such fixtures and devices 
should be visually screened from and/or 
within pubic  pedestrian and vehicular 
zones, preferably within landscape beds, 
landscaped parking ‘islands’ and/or 
landscape buffer areas.

(f)	 Utility and Equipment Screening 
All exposed structures requiring open- 
air locations, particularly rooftop 
mechanical/HVAC equipment, utility 
and/or other functional hardware, 
whether located atop, attached, or 
separated from the building it services, 
shall be adequately screened from public 
view. If atop a structure, these features 
shall be screened behind parapets, 
decorative roof elements, or screen 
enclosure walls for a visual distance of 
no less than one hundred fifty feet (150’), 
or beyond any public facing elevation 
that can be viewed from any public 
view point, or from the highest public 
vista possible looking down onto such 
a roof structure. Screen devices shall 
be fabricated to match and/or enhance 
the overall architectural massing, with 
materials and colors harmonious with 
the overall building(s) or block where 

Dumpster are completely screened on all sides.  Wall and 
gate materials are consistent with the building architecture.

Screening of tenant equipment, such as trash receptacles, 
storage bins, and grease containers with an architectural 
fence.

Loading dock and compactor screened with a building wall 
and landscaping.



Design Guidelines 13

applicable. 
All such devices are approved at the 
discretion of the Master Developer 
and the City. Where possible, such 
elements as generators, electrical and 
telecommunication cabinets should be 
set into lower grade areas, or within the 
building walls either open air or within 
a separated utility room or service area. 
Such features shall also be adequately 
screened by either screen walls or dense 
landscaping if they are in open area 
settings.

(g)	 Service/Loading Area Screening 
All building and/or tenant back-of-
house functions, such as trash containers, 
grease traps, recycling bins, compactors, 
or any other functional need, located 
outside of any interior lease area, shall be 
grouped in an approved common area/ 
service zone(s), within individual blocks 
located within that specific development 
block and/or complex, and placed or 
screened as is practical from public view, 
preferably in rear, or side yard or interior 
service rooms. 
 
Where exposed to public view, such 
service zones shall be adequately 
screened with architecturally 
complementary access doors and 
screen walls, and/or berms or dense 
landscaping. 
 
Recessed and/or raised service docks 
that face any public streetscape or 
parking area, or visible at the rear of 
any building, shall be screened from 
any public right-of-way with screen 
walls and/or screen doors, of a height 
and scale that will adequately hide any 
service vehicles that may use such zones. 
 
Screen wall, doors and/or roof enclosure 

elements are to be constructed of 
materials, colors, trim and/ or patterns to 
mimic the primary architectural character 
of that particular building. 
 
Exceptions are fully screened service 
zones, located between or surrounded by 
(or reasonably expected to be surrounded 
in the future by) other buildings and 
can provide service bay access that 
is not directly visible to public view. 
This would also include a roof or trellis 
element that screens the service bay 
from being seen from higher floors 
overlooking such zones. 
 
Service entrances located at the rear 
of buildings shall be screened, unless 
such areas are comprised only of only 
service access doors. On street, curbside 
loading areas need not be screened from 
view, but should be made dual-purpose 
to encourage other uses after hours, 
with clear signage as to the hours such 
potential uses are allowed. 
 
Hours of loading/servicing shall be 
coordinated with the Master Developer 
and/or any subsequent ‘association’ to 
limit service hours to non- operational, or 
lesser traffic impact times of the day.

(h)	 Loading Space Requirements 
Within Easton Farm retail and 
commercial areas, loading may be 
accomplished at specific curbside 
locations for smaller, in-line retail 
and service tenants, as practical and 
necessary depending on distance from a 
screened delivery bay. Curbside loading 
spaces should be made dual-purpose 
where practical and functionally viable 
for daytime, public use.



Easton Farm14

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

(i)	 Loading in Required Yards 
Loading spaces in other than high 
density mixed use retail/commercial 
areas, shall not occupy any part of a 
required yard setback, except locations at 
rear yards, per the discretion of the City.

(j)	 Screen Wall Construction and Materials 
All service bay screen walls will mimic 
building design, materials, colors of 
walls and fences, if visible from any 
public right-of-way, and shall be uniform 
and compatible with the base-building 
architectural style, color and building 
materials of the principal building and its 
surroundings.

(k)	 Fencing. 
Any or all fencing is to be painted or 
powder-coated metal railing, set into 
ground or bolted/incorporated into a 
wall or between pier supports. Chain 
link fences are not permitted along any 
visible public right-of-way, and may be 
placed only in service areas screened 
from public view.

(l)	 Open Space Area Requirements 
Open space shall be provided at ratios 
of 25% in Residential areas and 5% in 
mixed-use areas as per the “Usage” Table 
in this chapter.

4.	 Building Design
(a)	 Architectural Character 

The following architectural design 
guidelines are meant to achieve the result 
of establishing consistent, high-quality 
design, materials and construction that 
works with the site and streetscape 
guidelines to establish and reinforce the 
mixed-use district ‘neighborhood’ design 
and planning goals.

(b)	 Orientation to Street 
Buildings shall be architecturally 
oriented to frame any immediately 
adjacent street(s) to create a ‘street wall’ 
effect, with the main/primary entrance(s) 
located, facing the street, public right-
of-way or courtyard, and for larger-
format users over seven thousand square 
feet (7,000 sf), facing a relevant-sized 
surface parking area, unless deviation is 
deemed appropriate, per the discretion 
of the City. In cases where there is an 
anti-access easement or access is not 
permitted from a particular road or 
public right-of-way, the building shall 
not be required to face the subject road 
or right-of-way.  Buildings located on an 
intersection shall have the main entrance 
oriented toward the major street and 
any facade facing other streets shall 

Windows should be expressed with a vertical orientation.Buildings should be oriented with fronts, including 
storefronts and entrances, toward the street.



Design Guidelines 15

have facades that ‘turn the corner’ with 
similar/complementary design details, 
window openings and architectural 
character.

(c)	 Orientation of Windows and Doors 
All windows and doors, openings or 
frame fenestrations located within an 
opening shall be ‘vertical’ in orientation, 
meaning a primary design character of 
most building openings reflects a more 
top to bottom aesthetic, mimicking 
traditional storefronts and window 
motifs. window features including 
transoms, divided lights, and sidelights 
are encouraged, along with storefronts, 
doors and framing components, which 
follow vertical enhancing design 
elements. Sliding commercial-grade 
glass doors, folding glass windows 
and butt- jointed glazing may also be 
allowed, but only if window and/
or door orientations are also vertical 
in nature. Any sliding doors must 
pocket out of view, and all folding 
windows should not encroach into an 
exterior walk or public area beyond a 
tenant storefront closure line, unless 
that line is part of the tenant lease 
area, as in an exterior patio or display 
space. Uninterrupted linear ‘strip-
style’ windows are not permitted, 
since they do not reinforce the design 
vocabulary. The City may consider 
specific exceptions, primarily related 
to functional use, provided that the 
overall public facing building design 
is in keeping with the goals of the 
mixed-use district.  In more modern or 
contemporary interpretation(s), design 
elements such as overall building 
massing, window orientation and 
rooflines should take inspiration from 
motifs.

Glass should be translucent and provide visibility in and out.

Acceptable building materials include brick, stone, decorative 
block, precast masonry and EIFS.

Building materials should be applied in a variety of stylish 
and creative applications.



Easton Farm16

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

(d)	 Glass Materials 
Clear or colored glass, translucent, 
sandblasted and/or decorative pattern 
glass that can emit light through is 
encouraged. Retail and/ or commercial 
storefronts should be predominantly 
clear glass at any street level opening. 
Where a clear window opening is 
desired, but for functional reasons is 
not viable, an internally backlit shallow 
display box-out is desired. Translucent, 
patterned or colored glass panel will be 
allowed in all other applications. Other 
options, including back painted, fritted, 
sandblasted, color or non-illuminated 
translucent glass may be acceptable 
where structural elements or back-of-
house functions or unoccupied space 
would be visible behind. Black, opaque, 
spandrel and reflective glass materials 
are discouraged except in façade areas 
where its placement is a key part of a 
final design aesthetic.

(e)	 Building Materials 
Building materials shall be commercial 
grade, and applied in variety of stylish, 
creative and clever applications across 
the expanse of all visible public-facing 
elevations. Acceptable materials include: 
pre-cast masonry, brick, decorative 
block, cementitious siding, wood 
(both new and reclaimed in specific 
applications), natural stone, cast or 
cultured stone, exposed metal structure 
and/or architectural details and/ or 
surfaces where viable, stucco, EIFS or 
materials of equal appearance consistent 
with the acceptable architectural 
character outlined in these Architectural 
Guidelines  Plywood, unadorned 
corrugated siding, vinyl siding and 
plastic panels are prohibited from use in 
publicly visible locations.

Partial sloped roof on the left and a parpet on the right with 
cornice detailing.

This roofline does not effectively screen rooftop equipment.  
A parapet wall should be extended up to fully hide the 
equipment.

Varying roof materials with changes to building massing, 
including shingles of various colors, and standing seam 
metal.



Design Guidelines 17

(f)	 Rooflines 
Flat roofs are permitted, however, 
parapets or the underside of roof eaves 
should showcase some form of cornice 
or similar design element, masonry 
and/or brick trim and/or patterning, 
decorative blocks/brackets, moldings 
or some form of architectural emphasis 
along the roofline to tie that element 
to the building massing below. Where 
an adjacent building’s façade, which 
adjoins it, has a similar roofline height, 
a variation of the parapet or roofline is 
required 
 

NOTE: All rooflines must be able to 
fully screen any and all HVAC/utility 
or functional apparatus from public 
view from a distance equivalent to 
the parallel height of that roofline as 
viewed downhill from any distance 
into the project. If that proves difficult, 
a subsequent parapet screen may be 
installed on roof to provide additional 
screening. 

(g)	 Visible Roofing Materials 
Slate style shingles, fiberglass shingles 
and either copper or painted/ powder 
coated standing seam metal are 

Changes in building massing should include variations to 
rooflines, setbacks, materials, and include features such as 
“pop-outs”.

Building heights should vary in coordination with changes in 
building massing.

Architectural features such as towers may extend above the 
typical roofline.

Large format retail using massing elements and detail to 
visually reduce the scale of the front façade.



Easton Farm18

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

permitted materials, for sloped roofs 
per the discretion of the City. Where 
possible, patterning of shingles colors 
for more vertical roof surfaces is highly 
encouraged.

(h)	 Building Heights 
Heights shall be consistent with those of 
other similar uses.

(i)	 Larger format retailers, entertainment 
venues or other commercial uses, where 
taller interior spaces is the normative 
Heights of the front facades should 
use massing elements and materials to 
blend in with any adjacent structure(s) 
as to not overwhelm the overall visual 
appearance. 
 
Subject to the restrictions on Maximum 
Occupied Height and Minimum 
Occupied Height as set forth in this 
chapter, individual structures should 
feature a variety of heights, utilizing 
elements such as roofline variation, 
decorative towers or portal elements, 
steeples, pediments, clerestories, 
dormers or domes, consistent with the 
overall architectural character and these 
Architectural Guidelines. The height of 
enclosed unoccupied building elements 
may not exceed a maximum height up to 
sixty (60’) from main street level grade. 
 
Purely decorative unoccupied elements 
such as mansard and/or peaked roofs, 
towers, flagpoles, spires and steeples 
may be located on top of both occupied 
and unoccupied enclosed space, to 
a total building height of no more 
than eighty-five feet (85’), excluding 
decorative metal finials or spires.

(j)	 Building Massing 
Individual buildings and any 
attached structures should strive for 
complementary building massing, 
reminiscent of traditional townscape/ 

streetscape patterns. “Monoplanar” or 
monolithic appearance and surfaces, 
with little variation in setbacks, wall 
fenestration, or rooflines are not 
permitted. 
 
Building massing should take into 
account adjacent buildings, property 
uses, sightlines, identity, and 
relationship to its site to accomplish 
building a contextual variety in its 
overall massing. As noted above, 
elements such as rooflines, setbacks, 
decorative architectural elements, 
visual openings and wall fenestration 

Building massing used to break up large monolithic 
appearance on a building elevation.

Changes in color coordinated with building massing, but not 
so dissimilar as to clash.



Design Guidelines 19

elements such as ‘pop-outs’, window 
openings, trellises, pergolas, verandas, 
entrances, piers, pilasters, decorative 
panels, or grilles, and eaves or cornice 
lines are highly encouraged, and visual 
articulates a structure’s overall massing 
and creates pedestrian scale to its overall 
context.

5.	 Colors
(a)	 Color Variation 

The use of sharply contrasting colors 
on significant swaths of any building(s) 
facades is discouraged, but may be 
used for accenting or enhancing an 
architectural elements. If used either 
as an accent or as some form of tenant 
identity, they should be limited to 
specific architectural elements, details 
or specific and limited surface areas. 
Their use in tenant design areas however 
is encouraged, but subject to tenant 
design guidelines established by the 
City for their particular building or 
development. 
 
Color schemes should be kept to no 
more than one or two field or trim 
colors on any given individual facade, 
unless deviation from this is deemed 
appropriate by the Master Developer 
and the City. All exterior colors and 
finished material surface colors are 
subject to City approval.

(b)	 Color Consistency 
Color scheme(s) should help to visually 
tie all parts of building massing(s) 
together. Monolithic or singular 
color schemes and appearances are 
discouraged, but monochromatic color 
palettes featuring shade variations are 
acceptable. Typically, the color that 
is used in the storefront area may be 
repeated in the upper story windows 
or to accent a roofline element/cornice 

area. Colors used at the front façade 
should be utilized on the sides and rear 
of buildings.

6.	 Landscaping-(Also covered in Landscape 
Section)Plant Material Selection 
Plant materials shall be chosen which 
are indigenous, moderately fast growing 
and require low maintenance. All planted 
surfaces, whether in ground or in raised 
landscape beds shall be fully irrigated and 
maintained in good working order. The 
landscape design shall incorporate the total 
development site, be in context with adjacent 
users, and consist of a palette of plants with 
year round appeal which might include 
annuals, perennials, shrubs and trees.
(a)	 Surface Parking Area Screening 

Parking areas and driveways shall 
be screened from adjacent public and 
private streets and open spaces to a 
height of 30 inches above the finished 
parking surface.  Taller shrubs and low-
profile ornamental trees are permitted in 
areas where screening of outboard utility 
or service areas is required. 

(b)	 Surface Parking Area Landscape Area 
Requirements 
A minimum of eight percent (8%) of any 
one total interior surface parking area 
shall be landscaped with planted islands 
or landscape island beds for every linear 
run of no more than 16 parking spaces. 
Exceptions to this rule are if the entire 
run is no more than 15 spaces, or if a 
landscaped cross-surface walk is aligned 
within or part of a larger landscape 
island or row, or if an irregularly 
shaped island creates a naturally larger 
landscape bed area where the edges 
may be more low plantings, and the 
interior may be more lawn in season. A 
minimum of two (2) trees, of no less than 
2” caliper with lawn shall be planted 
on all interior islands within any row 



Easton Farm20

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

of surface parking area.  The use of all 
mulch islands shall be prohibited.

(c)	 Exemptions 
Parking area landscape requirements 
shall be waived if the surface parking 
area is not, nor will ever conceivably 
be, visible from a public right-of-way, 
or is considered a temporary use as 
determined by the Master Developer.

(d)	 Planting Island Requirements 
Planted islands shall be at least 9’ in 
width (face-of-curb-to face-of-curb) and 
the length of the adjacent parking space 
with a pervious surface area adequate 
for proper root aeration and expansion. 
Creative alternatives are subject to 
review and approval of the Master 
Developer.

(e)	 Screening Materials 
Where plants are used as screening 
it shall be opaque year round. Plants 
shall be of a height and density so as to 
provide the full desired effect within 
three (3) growing seasons.

(f)	 Street Trees 
All streets shall be planted with 
regularly spaced shade trees, with a 
minimum 2 ” caliper. Trees shall be 
placed and selected in consultation with 
the Master Developer.

(g)	 Street Furniture 
‘Street furniture/furnishings’ are key 
features of public spaces that can greatly 
facilitate in creating vibrantly-used 
pedestrian spaces along all streetscapes, 
open spaces and connecting outdoor 
areas. These features include such basic 
items as benches, trash receptacles, 
bollards, drinking fountains, wayfinding 
and street signs. 
 
Other elements include game areas 
and surfaces, moveable tables, chairs, 
outdoor lounge seating groupings, 

Parking screened with a continuous evergreen hedge.

Street trees in a tree lawn between the curb and sidewalk.

A variety of furnishings activate the street and provide 
neccessary “creature comforts”.



Design Guidelines 21

picnic benches and tables, market 
umbrellas, outdoor fireplaces, water 
features, children’s play areas, sculpture 
and other durable, exterior pubic art. 
 
Street furniture shall be chosen and 
placed in consultation with the Master 
Developer and the City, and shall be 
located within agreed zones to maintain 
a clear pedestrian path. 
 
Street furniture shall be made of 
materials consistent with extended 
public use. These materials include 
painted or powder-coated metal with a 
matte finish; wood in either a stained, 
painted or treated finish; outdoor 
grade fabrics and canvas, and in certain 
instances, high-impact, composite or 
resin-based materials that mimic natural 
finishes that are weather and fade 
resistant. 
 
All street furniture and public features 
shall always be maintained in good 
working order and appearance by their 
respective owner(s), and repaired or 
replaced as necessary. 
 
Street furniture shall be consistent in 
material, color and style along both 
sides of any street street in public areas 
fronting onto other developments. 
Within any one development parcel, 
a developer may utilize differing 
selections, provided they are part 
of an overall design scheme, placed 
appropriately and upholds the 
pedestrian-friendly spirit of The Easton 
Farm. All street furniture elements, 
either new or replacement that vary 
in color, material, number, placement 
or size from prior approved plan(s) 
are subject to Master Developer and 
approval. 

Games can be provided to activate the street, and should be 
coordinated with seating.

Pedestrian-scale lighting.  Cut-off style fixtures reduce glare 
and light pollution.

Taller fixtures for use in vehicular applications, but still with 
pedestrian detailing consistent with the setting.



Easton Farm22

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

(h)	 Registered Professional Required 
Each applicant shall utilize a registered 
landscape architect who shall work with 
the Master Developer on all landscape 
design, landscape plans and/or 
alterations.

(i)	 Maintenance 
The Master Developer may supplement 
these Architectural Guidelines by 
adopting, through rules and regulations, 
more specific Landscaping Standards 
that will apply to this Property.

7.	 Outdoor Lighting
(a)	 Outdoor Lighting.  

All outdoor lighting of buildings, surface 
parking areas, service zones, or any non-
illuminated, surface mounted project 
signage or tenant identity signage, shall 
be directed so as to prevent glare on 
adjacent properties and streets and to 
shield the lighting from residences, to 
the maximum extent feasible. 
 
All fixtures shall be LED or similar 
product, and their placement, along with 
all support posts/poles and brackets, 
shall be consistent in fabrication quality, 
and selected to enhance the overall 
design character of the urban village 
theme.

Street Lighting.  
Consistent and commercial grade 
fixtures for street and pedestrian 
lighting shall be provided on all streets, 
sidewalks and pedestrian pathways, 
including public gathering/event 
spaces, both public and private within 
the Property. Street and pedestrian poles 
shall be located at all intersections and 
along sidewalks at intervals consistent 
with the urban village design character. 
 
Note: All lighting fixtures, light levels, 
placement and scale needs to be 
coordinated with any existing adjacent 

or abutting streetscape, developed 
property, or proposed project to avoid 
redundant fixtures and ‘over-lit’ 
conditions along these interfaces. 
 
Street lighting shall be scaled to the 
pedestrian, with pedestrian street 
support posts no less than 12’ high to 
underside of actual fixture, which shall 
be the recommended minimum height, 
including 30” minimum bases and 
tapered support posts of no less than 6” 
diameter at the base. 
Pedestrian light poles are to be featured 
within all community gathering space 
areas, and shall feature exterior outlets 
in the base for seasonal and functional 
needs. Street light fixtures shall be 
painted or powder coated metal, with a 
matte finish, consistent in color and style 
on both sides of any street and chosen in 
consultation with the Master Developer 
and the City. An alternative for public 
spaces, gathering areas, and pedestrian 
pathways are low-profile LED, internally 
lit bollards, placed at intervals to fully 
illuminate all pedestrian surfaces, 
or concealed, undermount lighting 
that surface illuminates or ‘washes’ 
pedestrian walk or gathering areas. 
 
A street/pedestrian lighting plan, 
showcasing a fixture schedule, light 
levels, and placement within the 
Property, and showing any adjacent 
existing fixture(s) and placement, shall 
be submitted to the Master Developer 
and the City for approval. 



Design Guidelines 23

(b)	 Decorative Accent/Architectural 
Lighting 
All decorative accent/architectural 
lighting, meant to illuminate a building 
feature or surface(s), as well as any 
surface mounted, non-illuminated 
signage that is a permanent feature 
of the overall building or site design, 
shall also be submitted to the Master 
Developer and the City for review and 
approval.

8.	 Outdoor Storage
(a)	 Screening. 

Outside storage of merchandise, raw 
material, finished products and/ or 
equipment must be visually screened 
from any publicly visible right- of-
way. All tenant service areas, including 
service docks, back-of-house areas, trash 
containers or compactors, recycling 
bins, grease traps and general service 
locations must be fully screened with 
non-lockable closure gates on one side 
for access and removal. 
 
Large format uses requiring large service 
bays shall screen all areas with walls 
and/ or screen doors that fully hide 
all service vehicles, both lengthwise 
and in height, and are to be consistent 
materials/colors that complement their 
base building architectural character.  
Exception: if the service bay is fully 
screened from any public view, then 
these requirements may be waived, but 
only upon review and approval of the 
Master Developer and the City. 
 
Initial site planning should work 
to negate or minimize views from 
any public areas or such large bays 
wherever possible. Masonry, brick, 
stone, decorative block, composite 
materials, pressure treated wood and/or 
painted or powder-coated metal are all 

acceptable materials to screen attached 
or free-standing service areas and bays. 
 
Storage facilities shall feature walls that 
reflect the surrounding architectural 
character, tall-growth landscaping, and 
enclosure doors featuring decorative 
fencing and opaque metal screen 
backing. 
 
For uses that require more than 
occasional access, and are outboard or 
freestanding from the main building 
area, three sides shall be screened, but 
screened areas must not be visible from 
the public right-of-way, and shall feature 
unlocked, decorative and opaque doors 
to one side for clear access. Chain-link 
fencing with inserted slats, or plastic-
coated walls and/ or support wood 
posts, are not permitted in any publicly 
viewable area.

(b)	 Storage/Screened Service Area Design.  
Any required outdoor storage 
building(s) or structures shall be 
constructed in the same style/materials 
and colors as their surrounding 
buildings or primary project character. 
The overall concept is that they should 
not look ‘temporary’.

(c)	 Visibility from Public Right-of-Way. 
Where possible, locate any outdoor 
storage structure away from the public 
right-of-way or view behind the main 
building(s).

(d)	 Accessory Structures.  
Accessory Structures may contain 
auto and accessory vehicle parking, 
developer/landlord/tenant or resident 
storage, building or amenity functions/
uses, general maintenance storage, 
or trash/recycling bin enclosures. 
Prefabricated shed structures are not 
permitted.



Easton Farm24

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

9.	 Vehicular and Pedestrian Circulation.
(a)	 Safety. 

The safe and functional movement 
of both vehicles and pedestrians, on 
and off-site, shall be provided as the 
primary consideration in designing 
transportation networks within the 
Property, and all site plans shall be 
crafted to minimize such conflicts 
wherever possible.

(b)	 Pedestrian Circulation.  
Pedestrian circulation is highly 
encouraged, and can be accomplished 
via sidewalks, crosswalks, cross-surface 
lot walkways, community gathering 
spaces, plazas, terraces, seating and 
amenity zones, hard-surface paths, 
bike paths, and permeable pathway 
surfaces. These varying pathways 
should be crafted to connect between all 
buildings, and within and outboard of 
specific development parcels. Early site 
planning should make this a core design 
consideration within and along the 
edges of the Property.

(c)	 Sidewalks. 
Where appropriate, sidewalks shall be 
provided on each side of every public 
and or semi-private street or drive, 

Provide sidewalks on both sides of each street and 
demarcate crosswalks.  Use of curb-extensions shortens 
crossing distances.

Sidewalk on a low-volume residential frontage with street 
trees in a tree-lawn.

Sidewalks in an urban setting.  The minimum width should be 
Unrestricted with furnishings. 

Sidewalks along a high volume street with parking spaces 
should allow for street trees and/ or lanscape beds at 
intervals for optimal pdestrain access.



Design Guidelines 25

and shall be intentionally developed to 
interconnect different land use areas and 
open spaces. Sidewalks should be no less 
than 6’ wide.

(d)	 Sidewalks and Buildings. 
Pedestrian connections, including 
crosswalks, sidewalks and pathways 
shall be provided along any surrounding 
streets/driveways/drive isles, along the 
front, side or back of any building or 
group of structures, on all specified and 
dedicated streetscapes, both public and 
private.

(e)	 Sidewalk Width. 
Sidewalks along the primary or front 
facades of buildings in the height 
density Multiple Use Retail/Commercial 
areas shall be an average of no less 
than twelve feet (12’) back of curb to 
building face, incorporating a dedicated 
landscape/tree well area at the curb line 
of no less than six ft. x five ft. (6’x5’), and 
at intervals of every other parallel space 
(46’ center to center) and approximately 
every fourth head-in space (42’ center 
to center). Sidewalks at sides and rear 
of buildings may be of lesser width, but 

in no case less than six feet (6’) wide. 
Sidewalk and pathway widths within 
other areas are to be determined by 
Master Developer prior to City review 
for each application as submitted, but in 
no case are to be less than five feet (5’) 
wide.

(f)	 Open Space/Gathering Spaces 
Usable and functional open spaces 
and programmable event spaces are 
required as part of the multiple use 
areas, and adjacent neighborhoods. This 
definition may also include/allow for 
landscaped traffic islands, pedestrian 
plazas, arrival courts, landscaped 
sidewalk/pathway areas, game areas, 
public amenity features such as water 
features, fireplaces and seating areas, 
general green space, playgrounds, tot 
lots, pocket parks and other recreational 
uses. Open spaces between buildings 
that create landscaped courtyards or 
walkways to connect rear parking areas, 
or to adjacent neighborhoods, or other 
nearby anchors are strongly encouraged, 
and should be ‘programmed’ to 
encourage pedestrian activity, seating 
areas and amenities.

Buildings should be sited to allow for screening when parking 
is located to the side or rear of the structure where viable.

Parking along surrounding arterial roadways shall require 
setbacks to allow for landscape buffers.



Easton Farm26

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

10.	 Off-Street Parking Requirements.
(a)	 Size of parking spaces and aisles 

Parking spaces and drive aisles shall be sized in a manner consistent with the following chart, 
unless specifically allowed otherwise by the City. 

PARKING DIMENSIONS

ANGLE (DEGREES) 0 30 45 60 90

Stall Width 8’ 9’ 9’ 9’ 9’

Stall Length 23’ 18’ 18’ 18’ 18’

Stall Length Perpendicular to Aisle 8’ 17’ 19’ 20’ 18’

Aisle Width, One Way 12’ 12’ 12’ 18’ 24’

Aisle Width, Two Way 20’ 20’ 20’ 22’ 24’

Total Width, One Stall, One-Way Aisle 20’ 29’ 31’ 38’ 42’

Total Width, Two Stalls, One-Way Aisle 28’ 46’ 50’ 58’ 60’

Total Width, One Stall, Two-Way Aisle 28’ 37’ 39’ 42’ 42’

Total Width, Two Stalls, Two-Way Aisle 36’ 54’ 58’ 62’ 60’

(b)	 The number of parking spaces, which are required in each usage classification, are as follows:
•	Easton Farm generally (Including all uses allowed except as set forth below) - one (1) for each 250 

square feet of lease able floor space, except 1.25 spaces per dwelling unit (4/1,000).
•	Freestanding Restaurants/Bars – Eight (8) spaces per each 1000 square feet of gross leasable floor 

area.
•	Large Format Retail – A minimum of three (3) spaces for each 1000 square feet of gross leasable floor 

area (3/1,000) is permitted, up to a maximum of no more than four and a half (4.5) spaces per 1000 
square feet of gross leasable floor area. The Master Developer and City will assist any development 
entity, and any/all end user retail tenant(s) to facilitate the potential for cross-parking usage with 
other complementary services/attractions for all large surface parking areas. This effort should be 
encouraged in early site planning phases.

•	Office - a minimum of one (1) space for every 250 square feet of gross leasable floor space per BOMA 
standard lease calculations. However for medical office uses, the ratio of parking spaces shall be one 
(1) space for every 200 square feet of gross leasable floor area on single use lots.



Design Guidelines 27

•	Multi-Family Residential - One and one-
quarter (1.25) spaces per dwelling unit, except 
single family attached dwellings: Two (2) 
spaces per dwelling unit.

•	Public and institutional - Shall not utilize 
shared parking, and all off- street parking 
shall be located in rear yard areas. The 
“Parking Area” for Institutional Uses shall 
be a minimum of one (1) space for every 250 
square feet of internally occupied floor space. 
However, the ratio of parking spaces actually 
constructed can be reduced to three (3) spaces 
for every 1,000 square feet of occupied floor 
space, provided the balance of the “Parking 
Area” is set aside as green space or permeable 
pavers (lawn or landscaping) in designs 
approved by the City.

(c)	 Shared Parking. 
Where permissible, shared-parking 
ratios may be allowed for certain 
developments/uses. Shared parking 
arrangements are meant to encourage 
a more “round the clock” and effective 
usage of any parking facility, therefore 
generating smaller overall surface 
parking area(s), while avoiding the 
creation of expansive, underutilized lots. 
 
The City may consider the acceptance 
of a formula that can demonstrate 
certain combinations of mixed-uses 
and adjacent developments that will 
yield increased overall parking area 
utilization, especially throughout any 
given twenty-four hour period. Such 
formulas shall be consistent with the 
recommendations and current standards 
recognized by the Urban Land Institute 
and/or the guidelines from the Congress 
for New Urbanism.

(d)	 Off-Street Surface Parking Lot 
Placement. 
Any off-street, surface parking areas 
within Easton Farm shall be set back a 
no less than fifteen feet (15’) or no more 

than seventy-five feet (75’) from any 
existing, surrounding arterial, including 
along the property line adjacent to 
State Route 741 and along the length 
of  Easton Way. The City shall have 
discretion to make this requirement 
applicable elsewhere on any subsequent 
prominent frontages, such as along 
key pedestrian connections, within 
significant vistas and within important 
public spaces. Surface parking lots may 
be built up to adjacent property lines 
on all other street frontages within 
the Property and as established in 
subsequent approved site plan areas 
that anticipate connecting adjacent 
development at a future date. Placement 
of surface parking areas should be 
related to both the building type served 
and the adjacent buildings, connecting 
streetscapes and uses, which may 
require the lot to be screened by building 
or landscaping from surrounding streets 
and/or pedestrian pathways.

(e)	 Structured Parking Lot Placement.  
Any parking structure(s) shall be set 
back a minimum of 60 feet from the 
property lines of all adjacent streets 
to reserve room for Liner Buildings 
between parking structures and the lot 
frontage, unless the parking structure is 
sited within the multi-family residenitial 
area in the southeast corner of the site 
separate form the property line by two 
retention ponds including fountains/ 
aerators  of the parcels adjacent to the 
southern property line.  The buildings 
surrounding the parking structure shall 
be no less than two stories in height.  
 
Any parking structure(s) shall be set 
back a minimum of 60 feet from the 
property lines of all adjacent streets 
to reserve room for Liner Buildings 
between parking structures and the lot 



Easton Farm28

02 | Mixed Use Neighborhood Center

frontage, unless the parking structure is 
sited within the multi-family residential 
area in the southeast corner of the site 
separate form the property line by two 
retention ponds including fountains/ 
aerators  of the parcels adjacent to the 
southern property line. The buildings 
surrounding the parking structure shall 
be no less than two stories in height. 

11.	 Drainage and Water Detention
(a)	 Detention as an Amenity. 

Storm retention/detention ponds are 
proposed within the southeast and 
northwest corners of the site, between 
the proposed neighborhood and 
existing properties between and along 
the southern boundary and existing 
properties on that side and along State 
Route 741 and adjacent to the existing 
farmstead bordering a new internal 
neighborhood. 

(b)	 Impact on Surrounding Properties 
The water features shall be secured from 
accidental access through the use of in 
by natural elements such as landscaping, 
rocks, boulders, and a low decorative 
rail or ornamental fence, or as otherwise 
approved by the Master Developer and 
the City.

12.	 Signage/Environmental Graphics/Tenant 
Signs.
(a)	 Project Signage/Brand. 

The Master Developer will prepare and 
submit to the City an overall project 
identity graphic/font/logo as part of an 
overall ‘way finding’ signage program. 
This will be physically used on entry 
walls, street signs, directories, and in 
subtle other applications where a logo 
or font script will help to establish 
an overall brand for the Easton Farm 
development. 
 
 

This will establish the parameters 
for execution of all project signage, 
including size, application, color, 
use, materials and fabrication, along 
with potential uses and styling for all 
marketing and promotional potentials. 
 
The project name will also be a ‘tag line,’ 
to be placed at the end of individual 
projects within the development to help 
both promote the Easton Farm and to 
establish a sense of place. For example, a 
multi family development hypothetically 
name ‘The Lofts’ will be promoted at 
“The Lofts at Easton Farm.” This would 
apply to all larger scale developments 
that require their own address. 
 
The Master Developer retains full 
control of the use and promotion of the 
overall Easton Farm project branding, 
logo, identity and any entity that uses 
such aspects in a co-branded promotion 
or application.

(b)	 Individual Project and/or Tenant Sign 
Criteria. 
At present, the Master Developer 
believes that, given the fluid nature of 
the various components and end users, 
it would be difficult and limiting to the 
creative potential to establish exacting 
signage guidelines this early in the 
process. 
 
Instead, as an individual development 
begins its design process, and the 
building uses/tenants are established, 
along with the resulting architectural 
character, massing and materials, the 
Master Developer will require and work 
with the developer(s) to craft their own 
site-specific signage criteria, and to assist 
potential tenants with tailoring creative, 
stylish and well-executed signage and 
graphics that add another dimension of 
quality to the overall development 



Design Guidelines 29

This allows each individual project to 
establish their unique brand within the 
Easton Farm development, with the 
signage being a ‘signature.’ 
 
The Master Developer will require all 
individual developments to submit 
a project/tenant signage criteria 
for review, comment and required 
adjustment within a timeline to be 
established early in the development 
process. These individual signage/
tenant criteria(s) will cover all aspects 
including, but not limited to, the 
placement, scale, application, materials, 
colors, fabrication, and illumination 
of all project identity, tenant signage, 
branding and way finding elements. 
This process allows for the Development 
to accommodate ongoing shifts in style, 
application and fabrication technology. 
 
In all instances, the Master Developer 
and City retain full approval rights for 
all signage and graphics, as well as any 
proposed alterations or adjustments to 
any individual project/tenant signage 
criteria or resulting signage.

(c)	 Comprehensive Sign Guidelines. 
When the Development is at a point 
where end users have been identified 
and sufficient project development 
has occurred that Comprehensive Sign 
Guidelines may be promulgated, Master 
Developer shall prepare and submit 
to the City for its approval proposed 
Comprehensive sign Guidelines. The 
City shall consider such guidelines 
in the form of rules and regulations 
supplemental to this text.  



Easton Farm

RESIDENTIAL

O3

30

The purpose of this Section is to allow for 
flexibility when the result will be residential 
development that is compatible with nearby 
walkable town/village center/urban village.

1.	 Permitted Uses
(a)	 single-family detached dwellings
(b)	 single-family attached dwellings (town 

homes)
(c)	 multi-family dwellings
(d)	 apartments
(e)	 condominiums
(f)	 loft-style residential

(g)	 assisted or independent living residences
(h)	 senior housing
(i)	 accessory structure

2.	 Orientation. 
Residential area building entrances shall be 
oriented toward the street, primary right of 
way, open areas or courtyard unless deviation 
is appropriate, per the discretion of the 
Master Developer. Buildings located on an 
intersection shall have consistent architectural 
style and detailing on both street-fronting 
elevations. 

...open areas or courtyard.Residential building entrances should be oriented toward the 
street, primary right-of-way...



Design Guidelines 31

3.	 Signage 
All residential project signage may be placed, either bracketing the entry into, or in the middle 
of the right of way, into any new entrance. It may also be placed on the structure, above or to 
the side of a dedicated entrance. No one development can have more than two such entrances. 
Signs/identity may also be placed in landscaped islands, on each side of an entry, along existing 
boulevards per the discretion of the Master Developer and the City. 

SINGLE FAMILY LOTS

LOT 
WIDTH 
(MIN.)

LOT 
DEPTH 
(MIN.)

GARAGE 
LOADING

FRONT 
YARD 

SETBACK 
(MIN.)

SIDE YARD 
SETBACK 
(MIN. EA. 

SIDE)

REAR YARD 
SETBACK 

(MIN.)

MAXIMUM 
OCCUPIED 

HEIGHT

MINIMUM 
OCCUPIED 

HEIGHT

Village Center Lots 31’ 110’ Service 
way 6’ 3’ 5’ 2 2 

stories 1 story

Neighborhood Lane Lots 50’ 125’ Service 
way 15’ 5’ 5’ 2 2 

stories 1 story

Neighborhood Edge Lots 50’ 125’ Front 25’ 5’ 20’ 2 
stories 1 story

Northern Transition Lots 110’ 125’ Front 25’ 5’ 20’ 2 
stories 1 story

1.	 Setback to wall of the primary building massing; 5’ encroachment by front porch permitted.
2.	 Setback from service way right-of-way or easement line to face of garage.

5.	 Site Development.
(a)	 Maximum Block Size. 

The maximum length of any block 
shall not exceed 600 feet without 
an intersecting street, service drive, 
connecting pedestrian greenway or 
adjoining open space.

(b)	 Service ways. 
Service ways shall be incorporated in the 
residential neighborhoods to provide 
access to parking and service areas 
behind rows of town house-style units. 
Service way locations and dimensions 
are not fixed but shall be designed to 
accommodate the service way’s purpose, 
preferably no less than 20’ from building 
edge to building edge across any one 
service way way to facilitate proper 
backing out of any one garage space. 

Any required additional curb cuts shall 
be added only with the permission 
of the City. Service ways may also be 
incorporated into parking lots as drive 
aisles and fire lanes.

(c)	 Lot Coverage. 
Multi-family dwellings may not cover 
more than eighty percent (80%) of an 
overall parcel area. This does not include 
any outboard freestanding garage 
parking or covered spaces/areas.

(d)	 Building Fronts and Backs. 
The front or side of every building must 
face the street, right of way or courtyard. 
Rear facing buildings, overhead doors 
and service entries are prohibited on 
street façades. 
 



Easton Farm32

03 | Residential

(e)	 Streets having single family homes with 
garage accessed off the frontage street 
shall be constructed with rolled curb and 
gutter.

6.	 Residential Building Materials. 
The following materials shall be permitted 
materials for use in residential buildings:
(a)	 Brick in standard sizes.  
(b)	 Stone: natural, cast or cultured
(c)	 Siding shall be wood, simulated wood, 

or vinyl (minimum thickness - .046”), or 
fiber-cement siding.

(d)	 Stucco, EIFS in standard finishes. 
(e)	 Columns, cornices, and similar elements 

should be natural or simulated natural 
materials such as wood, steel or stone.

7.	 Residential Roof Materials:
(a)	 Natural or simulated slate or tile.
(b)	 Wood shakes.
(c)	 Dimensional shingles (30 year).
(d)	 Standing seam panels (20 yr. Paint 

warranty, minimum).
(e)	 Copper
(f)	 Single-ply membrane roofs allowed 

when hidden from street level view.

8.	 Parking Requirements. 
The intent of these parking ratios is to 
encourage a balance between developing a 
desirable, pedestrian oriented development 
and necessary car storage for both short and 
long-term use. The goal is to construct neither 
more nor less parking than is needed, and 
where viable, to overlap the timeline of the 
various uses to achieve a shared time frame 
aspect.
(a)	 Minimum Residential Space 

Requirements. 
The minimum parking spaces in 
residential areas are as follows: 1.25 
space per dwelling unit at multi-family 

residential, and 2 spaces per dwelling for 
single-family dwellings.

(b)	 On-Street & Structured Parking. 
On-street and/or structured parking is 
permitted and encouraged for all site 
plans for any residential neighborhood 
within Easton Farm. Parking need not 
be contiguous with the building(s) or the 
use it serves.

(c)	 Shared parking solutions. 
Shared parking solutions are encouraged 
by the Master Developer and the City. 
Each development applicant shall 
provide a parking analysis justifying any 
proposed shared parking solution, per 
guidelines developed by the Urban Land 
Institute.

9.	 Access to Off-Street Parking.
(a)	 Access from Service ways. No Parking 

Permitted. 
Service ways shall be the primary source 
of access to all off-street or individual 
unit garage parking. (Parking along 
service ways, if permissible per the 
individual development site plan, may 
be head-in, diagonal or parallel and may 
be made of a permeable block surface 
material.)

(b)	 Connection of Service ways to Adjacent 

Service ways shall be used to provide parking and service 
access to townhomes and smaller lots.



Design Guidelines 33

Properties. 
Service ways may be incorporated into 
parking lots as standard drive aisles. 
Access to all properties adjacent to 
the service way shall be maintained. 
Access along such service ways between 
differing ownership parcels or parking 
areas is also encouraged.

(c)	 Corner lots. 
Corner lots that have both rear and side 
access shall access parking through the 
rear.

(d)	 Garage door(s). 
Garage doors shall not exceed 16 feet in 
width.

10.	 Parking Lot Landscaping Requirements.
(a)	 Landscape Island/Beds. 

Parking lot landscape island/beds of 
at least eight feet (8’) in width shall 
be provided between parking aisles 
of either head-in or diagonal parking. 
The objective is to create a continuous 
shade canopy. A diversity of tree species 
throughout Easton Farm is encouraged. 
To minimize water consumption, the use 
of low-water vegetative ground cover 
other than lawn is encouraged, unless 
the lawn is part of a public open space 
or a foreground landscape feature. Plant 
material and trees should be of native 
species that are climate and drought 
tolerant.

11.	 General Ancillary Restrictions.
(a)	 The following utility and functional 

needs shall be properly screened and 
concealed from public view, from 
any direction, whether facing a public 
street, walkway, or side street, by 
either a planting screen, wall device  
or incorporated in the base building 
architecture: 

•	Temporary window and/or Wall Air 
Conditioners/HVAC units, except that for 

model homes such units
•	All Utility Metering devices
•	Air Conditioning Compressors;
•	Irrigation sheds
•	Pool maintenance facilities and pumps.

(b)	 The following shall be located in private 
open spaces, courtyards or to the side 
or rear private outdoor space of any 
attached dwelling unit:

•	Permanent fixed barbecues
•	Antennas if concealed
•	To the maximum extent permitted by law, 

satellite dish antennas greater than 18” in 
diameter.

	 For any residential units over 
commercial space, to the maximum 
extent permitted by law, a satellite dish 
needs to be concealed either on roof 
surfaces or setbacks, well away from any 
public streetscape vistas, public parking 
areas and/or walkways.

c) The following decorative and/or other 
elements are prohibited:

•	Plastic shutters, bris soleil shutters
•	Clotheslines
•	Clothes Drying Yards
•	Reflective and/or bronze-tint glass; Plastic or 

PVC roof files; Backlit awnings
•	Awnings (awnings shall also be prohibited on 

any front and side elevation), except that for 
model homes, awnings shall be permitted until 
the home is sold for use as a dwelling.

•	Fences made of chain link, barbed wire, or 
plain wire mesh, or rough- textured/timber or 
‘fortress style’ wood fences.

•	Unpainted and/or untreated wood fencing.

12.	 Residential Typologies



Easton Farm34

03 | Residential

(a)	 Multifamily



Design Guidelines 35

(b)	 Townhomes



Easton Farm36

03 | Residential

(c)	 Village Center Lots



Design Guidelines 37

(d)	 Neighborhood Lane Lots



Easton Farm38

03 | Residential

(e)	 Neighborhood Edge Lots (f)	 Northern Transition Lots



Design Guidelines 39

(g)	 Amenitiy Areas

Service way example

Service way example



Easton Farm

LANDSCAPE AND FEATURE PARK 
GUIDELINES

O4

40

1.) Introduction
The Easton Farm’s design character will be 
enhanced by a series of crafted landscaped 
parks and open spaces that link and define 
the various neighborhoods.  
This component is a key signature of what 
will make this a landmark. 

Note; In the spirit of making the 
development a one-of-a-kind community, 
if any development partner would prefer 
to creatively deviate from these guidelines, 
or add landscape or amenity features not 
covered in the following sections, the Master 
Developer reserves the right to review and 
allow for such changes and enhancements 
that exceed these requirements.
  
There are three key components to the 
landscape;

•	 A ‘Central Green’ that forms the ‘front 
door’ of The Easton Farm in the mixed-
use commercial district.

•	 A ‘Linear Park’ that is the open-space 
‘spine’ of the project that links both 
the various neighborhoods within The 
Easton Farm, and connects through the 
site to Springboro’s existing North Park 

on the south side of the site to Gardner 
Park on the north.

•	 A series of street trees, neighborhood 
parks, open spaces and pathways 
that interconnects the various 
neighborhoods, giving them a 
‘pedestrian-centric’ feel. 

2.) Central Green

The Central Green is the signature open 
space at the center The Easton Farm’s 
commercial district.
It is at the confluence of the three main 
public streets in the development and is 
framed by the larger structures within the 
mixed-use neighborhood.

The Central Green is made up of two 
asymmetrical, angular park spaces that are 
bifurcated by Noel Drive in the center.

The larger of these two open spaces at is at 
the corner of Easton Farm Boulevard and 
Anna Drive, and is framed by the larger 
structures within the community.  It is made 
up of the following components. The second 
one to the northwest is more triangular and 
modest in scale and is perceived as more of 



Design Guidelines 41

a passive space.  It is expected that this park 
is fully irrigated and up to the sidewalks so 
that it can be easily maintained.

Features and Details

•	 A series of curving and linear concrete 
sidewalks, between 5’ and 10’ feet in 
width.

•	 Park entrances that utilize key amenity 
pieces, with a wider hardscape surface 
in a variety of potential materials such as 
colored and pattern-stamped concrete, 
pavers, pea gravel or composite deck 
where viable.

•	 Several hundred feet of low walls 
that function as potential landscape 
retaining with a partial ‘seat wall’ at key 
points facing onto the sidewalk side.  
Wall surfaces are to be stone veneer 
or patterned block with a precast cap 
on top of no less than 12” wide (with 
skateboard stops on certain sections).

•	 Clusters of flowering landscape beds, 
hedge rows at key intersections, 
primarily along the edge of the park and 
at the entries.

•	 Amenities such as freestanding, open-
air pavilion(s), a signature fountain/
water feature, a ‘giant checkerboard’ 
with moveable chess and checker pieces, 
fixed art and/ or sculpture, fixed and/
or moveable bollards at key entries 
and along the zero-curb of Noel Drive, 
benches, trash receptacles, bike racks 
and moveable tables and chairs along 
section of a low seat wall, and a series of 
flagpoles leading up to the point of the 
triangular side of the park.

•	 Subtle lighting that includes pedestrian 
light poles, illuminated bollards, and up-
lighting in trees in landscape beds along 
the street edges and at key entries into 
the park and under-edge lighting along 
some of the linear walls where viable.  
Also, all landscape beds should contain 
outlets to allow for season lighting, 

maintenance use and event functions.

The Central Green is bifurcated by Noel 
Drive, which will be a zero-curb surface 
area defined by pavers and/or colored and 
stamped concrete with a vehicular travel 
zone framed by removable bollards that can 
be removed and relocated to cap the ends 
of the street, and allow for seasonal events 
within a combined park scape. 

Trees and landscape beds will be clustered 
to define entries into the park and set in 
rows to define the edges of the curving and 
linear walk zones.  These are a mix of trees 
well-suited to the SW Ohio climate and are 
primarily 2” caliper, interspersed with larger 
4” caliper at intersecting areas or to define a 
park entry, and to enhance the variety of the 
growth and character of the Central Green 
as time goes on.  
Trees stands should be tightly spaced to 
give the park an enclosed feeling along the 
edges and entries.

Amenities such as the pavilions, fountain/
water feature, benches and chairs, 
checkerboard, flagpoles, trash receptacles, 
bike racks and pedestrian light poles are 
to be placed to the edges of the park space, 
and the curved and linear walks and at the 
entries off the corners facing Easton Farm 
Boulevard and Anna Drive, with the center 
of the ‘Green’ defined more as a passive 
open lawn space that can contain a series 
of programmed community events as 
necessary.

3.) Linear Park

The Linear Park is the spine of The Easton 
Farm development.  
It is a predominantly passive, open space 
feature, which is a minimum of thirty-five 
(35’) wide depending on location, that 
connects and interconnects The Easton Farm 



Easton Farm42

04 | Landscape and Feature Park Guidelines

neighborhoods with Springboro’s North 
Park and Gardner Park that brackets the 
development.

The Linear Park was designed to be an 
almost uninterrupted walking or biking 
experience, with minimal vehicular 
crossings and connects to other open 
spaces and parks within The Easton Farm 
community.

The park is bordered on one side by 
predominantly single family home sites 
whose front doors and/or porches are 
designed to face onto the park, and Crockett 
Crossing which will feature defined parallel 
parking spaces along the sidewalk edge that 
adds a sense of enclosure from the street 
traffic. 

Features and Details

There is a primary main pedestrian and bike 
trail through the linear park, that winds and 
meanders essentially through the central 
portion of the green space, with its sweeping 
curves allowing for significant portions of 
lawn or landscaping to allow for play and 
gathering spaces. At key intersections, the 
trail will connect to corners or crossings and 
intersect with the sidewalk that runs along 
the edge of Crockett Crossing.  The trail is 
designed to be eight feet (8’) in width and 
can accommodate both pedestrian and bike 
traffic.  It will be scored concrete within the 
residential community, including sections 
that cross from The Easton Farm community 
property and into North and Gardner Parks.  

The sidewalk bordering and connecting 
front doors of the row of home sites along 
the inside section of the Linear Park will be 
connected to the main trail at key points and 
intersections where appropriate.  

Trees placement is to be patterned to allow 
for growth clusters that will provide shade 
at main points along it’s run.  The trees are 
mostly 2” caliper and interspersed with 4” 
caliper where appropriate to allow for a 
more casual park feel as time goes on.

Amenities are widely interspersed along the 
spine of the park and mostly feature benches 
at key intersections or crossings to provide 
rest areas. Also included are pedestrian scale 
wayfinding signage at key points, and bike 
racks spaced at every 1200’ linear feet, and 
placed to be provide their highest use and 
best use and an open-air bike repair stand, 
placed off the main trail closest to either 
Gardner or North Park. 

At key corners or intersections, planter 
beds of hedges, low plantings and flower 
beds will frame these areas. These spaces 
will feature wider hardscape surfaces to 
allow for benches, lighting, wayfinding and 
other amenities as appropriate and these 
should be placed off to the side of the main 
path of travel along the trail to not impede 
pedestrian or bike travel, and the taller, non-
seating features optimally placed within 
landscape beds to provide protection and 
avoid damage to the bases. These landscape 
beds areas are to be irrigated to maintain 
their growth and maintenance through the 
growing seasons.

Lighting is provided by a series of 
pedestrian light poles, spaced to provide 
illumination in more open areas along the 
park, and illuminated bollards where the 
trail and walks need illumination, but to 
avoid glare or over lighting in areas where 
street lighting is more a dominant feature.  
They should always be placed within 
landscape beds and/ or in lawn and green 
spaces but close enough to the edge of the 



Design Guidelines 43

trail or path to provide proper illumination. 
All amenities should all be coordinated with 
tree and landscape placement to enhance all 
areas and avoid misplacement or impede 
sightlines.  Low planting and landscape 
should also be coordinated and placed to 
provide enclosure and screening of utility 
and junction boxes as necessary whose 
placement may be necessary along some 
portions of the Linear Park route.

4.) Street Trees, Landscape and Hardscape 
Features.

Street trees within the development 
are a key feature of the character of the 
neighborhoods, and will over time create 
a canopy of shade along the sidewalks and 
fronting the structures and homes.

In the mixed-use neighborhood, and along 
the main pedestrian streetscapes along 
Easton Farm Boulevard, Anna Drive, 
Crockett Crossing and Noel Drive, street 
trees of 2” to 4” caliper should be placed 
no less than every 20’-30’ or depending 
on where it best aligns with building 
pilasters and/or feature paving areas at key 
intersections or mid-block crossings.  All 
trees should be in either irrigated planter 
beds of low landscaping of no less than 6’x6’ 
or 6’x12’ along Easton Farm Boulevard and 
Anna Drive, set within the opening of a 
6’x6’metal, decorative tree grate at sidewalk 
level, or set within a grass landscape 
strip bordering streets or at bump-out 
intersections.  

Along the primary streets in the commercial 
zones, planter beds will feature a 6” curb 
to avoid winter salt intrusion and erosion.  
All planter beds and street tree placement 

should be coordinated to not conflict with 
pedestrian light poles or building entrances 
that face onto that walk. 

Planter beds along the main commercial 
streets, passages and building entries where 
pedestrian activity is expected to be highest 
will include up-lighting for the trees and 
electrical outlets for season and maintenance 
use. They also should be wired to allow for 
low-profile speaker systems to be set within 
and screened by landscaping, but only 
within the commercial district itself.  

Street corners where the curb lines are 
extended outward should include special 
paving zones of patterned, stamped and/or 
colored concrete, pavers or other hardscape 
surfaces for high pedestrian use.  These 
areas will often be wider than the main walk 
and will feature such amenities as seating, 
benches, trash receptacles, landscape set in 
moveable pots and planters, wayfinding 
signage and potential space for outdoor 
dining tied to an adjacent food service 
tenant. 
Landscape edges and beds will feature 
defined additional 2” (min) caliper trees, 
shrubs, hedge rows and flowering beds, and 
may contain pedestrian street light poles 
and/ or illuminated bollards.  

All freestanding pedestrian light poles 
within the mixed-use district along the 
primary commercial streets shall include 
electrical outlets in the base.

All pedestrian street crossings within 
the mixed-use commercial district and 
at key corner and mid-block crossings 
connecting to the Linear Park and 
residential neighborhood parks will be 
made of stamped and colored asphalt 



Easton Farm44

04 | Landscape and Feature Park Guidelines

that compliments the sidewalk patterns 
and colors.  The walk will vary in width 
depending on the location and expected use, 
but should be no less than 6’ wide. A light 
color border strip of no less than one foot 
should be used to define the central pattern 
within each crossing.
 
Pedestrian sidewalks along the main 
commercial addresses along Easton Farm 
Boulevard, Anna Drive, Noel Drive and 
Crockett Crossing will be no less than 12’ 
and optimally 15’. The first two feet closest 
to any building will require a colored and/
or stamped concrete ‘transfer’ zone and 
should be aligned to cleanly accommodate 
building conditions, and set at elevation 
with the finished sidewalk. This is to allow 
for a visually clean, defined sidewalk 
path just beyond any potential building 
pilaster bump-outs and inset storefronts or 
windows, and to the landscape beds and 
curbs on the other side.

Landscaping in and within parking lots 
and will require two, 2” (min) caliper trees 
within each end cap island, and the spacing 
of one, 2” caliper tree every 25’ along drives 
cross-site streets within these areas.  All 
head-in or angle-in parking rows against a 
landscape edge or facing a linear building 
façade should contain a bump-out landscape 
bed every 16 spaces or less, and centered 
along that row if more than 16 spaces, but 
a number less than 32 spaces.  All parallel 
spaces should have a landscape bump out 
every 6 spaces.

Street trees within residential neighborhoods 
are conditional to the home types.  All street 
trees that front any residential lot with 
service way access and no front driveways 
should be placed at intervals of one at each 
individual lot line lot of 35’ wide or less, 
and groups of 2, spaced at 20 feet apart, of 
any lot more than 45’ wide, with the two 

trees centered on the dividing lot line.  If the 
lot is more ‘pie-shaped’ where the front is 
dimension is wider due to a convex curve, 
and additional tree will be required for any 
lot wider than sixty feet.

For lots with street-accessed driveways and 
40’ wide or smaller, two trees bracketing the 
drive way shall be placed no less than 10’ 
away from the apron, unless the apron is set 
close to a neighboring one and less than 20’ 
between each.

For lots with a street-accessed driveway and 
wider than 50’ there should be 2 trees along 
the street edge, spaced no less than 25’ apart, 
and no less than 10’ from the apron of the 
driveway, and an additional street tree will 
be required for lots wider than 85’.

All street trees will need to be coordinated 
with lighting pole placement, and where 
in conflict, a street tree should be moved to 
no less than 15’ away from such lighting, 
provided it’s not in conflict with the spacing 
of other trees along that street edge, and 
smaller than the dimensions required for 
proper growth.

5.) Neighborhood Parks

There are two defined neighborhood 
parks within the single-family residential 
neighborhoods, and are expected to be a mix 
of passive and active play areas.  
These should contain rows or clusters of 
trees, or set along the edge of walkways 
and/ or to frame along a fronting street, or 
set within irrigated planting beds, with trees 
provided at a ratio of one for every 1000’ sq. 
ft. of open space within each park itself.



Design Guidelines 45

Each park will potentially feature one or 
more of the following amenities and should 
be placed for highest and best use and to not 
impede pedestrian flow. 

•	 Children’s play areas with fixed jungle 
gyms and other play devices, and set on 
soft impact play surfaces.

•	 Benches, and other fixed seating
•	 Game and/play courts.
•	 Passive green lawns and open spaces
•	 Pedestrian light poles and/or 

illuminated bollards
•	 Wayfinding signage
•	 Fixed pavilions, shelters, trellises and/or 

gazebos
•	 Community mail box pavilion(s)



Easton Farm46

04 | Landscape and Feature Park Guidelines



Design Guidelines 47

(a)	 Landscape Amenitites



Easton Farm48

04 | Landscape and Feature Park Guidelines

(b)	 Streetscapes



Design Guidelines 49



Easton Farm38

DEFINTIONS

O5

The following words when used in this 
Declaration or any supplement hereto (unless the 
context shall prohibit) shall have the following 
meaning:

1.	 “ACCESSORY STRUCTURE” A building, 
shed, covering, or vertical design element 
which is subordinate and/ or supportive 
to a main or primary building or series 
of buildings.  Such structures are often 
freestanding but may be attached if the use 
requires, and are often purely functional and/
or decorative, and in architectural harmony 
with its primary building(s). Accessory 
structures are predominantly one story and 
may be habitable and/or climate-controlled 
as use permits.

2.	 “ARCHITECTURAL GUIDELINES” shall 
mean the written architectural standards set 
forth in this Declaration for development of 
the Property.

3.	 “ASSOCIATION” shall mean the owners 
association formed for the Property as 
provided in Article Six below.

4.	 “CITY” shall mean the City of Springboro, 
Ohio

5.	 “CONCEPTUAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN” 
shall mean the Conceptual Development Plan 

for the Property and the improvements to be 
constructed thereon.

6.	 “DECLARATION” shall mean this 
Declaration of Site Development and 
Design Standards and shall include without 
limitation all restrictions, covenants, 
conditions and agreements referred to herein.

7.	 “DEVELOPER” see Master Developer.

8.	 “DEVELOPMENT PLANS” shall mean the 
plans and specifications for the use of any Lot 
as set forth in this Declaration.

9.	 “FENESTRATION” shall mean openings in 
a building elevation, such as windows and 
doors.

10.	 “HOME OCCUPATION” shall mean a home-
based business restricted to the owner or 
tenant of any residential dwelling unit and 
up to two employees, and shall not include 
noxious or disruptive functions, including 
the disruption of parking for neighboring 
residents. Home occupation uses are not 
limited to accessory structures.

11.	 “IMPERVIOUS SURFACE” shall mean 
any material that substantially reduces or 
prevents the infiltration of storm water into 
previously undeveloped land. Impervious 



Design Guidelines 39

surfaces shall also mean any surface that 
has been compacted or covered with a layer 
of material so that it is highly resistant to 
infiltration by water. Impervious surface 
shall include compacted sand, lime rock and 
clay as well as conventional surfaces such as 
gravel driveways, parking areas, surfaced 
streets, roofs, sidewalks, structures and other 
similar surfaces.

12.	 “LINER BUILDING” refers to a retail or 
business structure built to camouflage a more 
utilitarian façade/use such as a substation, 
or parking structure. Liner Buildings are 
generally narrow in depth and placed along 
the street and consistent with approved uses 
in Mixed-Use areas.

13.	 “LOT” shall mean and refer to any parcel or 
lots designated hereafter on a plat or replat, 
or subdivision thereof, recorded against the 
Property, or portion thereof, improved or 
unimproved, on which a structure may be 
located.

14.	 “MASTER DEVELOPER” shall mean Easton 
Farm Partners, LLC, an Ohio limited liability 
company, its successors and permitted 
assigns as provided herein.

15.	 “MAXIMUM OCCUPIED HEIGHT” shall 
mean the height limit on certain Structures, as 
set forth herein, measured from median front 
exterior grade level to the specified height 
above the highest occupied floor.

16.	 “MAXIMUM UNOCCUPIED HEIGHT” shall 
mean the height limit on certain Structures, as 
set forth herein, measured from front exterior 
grade level to the highest unoccupied level of 
an enclosed Structure.

17.	 “MINIMUM OCCUPIED HEIGHT” shall 
mean the minimum height of certain 
Structures, as set forth herein, based either 
upon a minimum number of occupied stories 
above grade level or a minimum height 
measured from the front exterior grade level.

18.	 “MIXED USE” shall mean an area or structure 
that contains a mixture of commercial, office 
and/or residential uses.

19.	 “MULTI-FAMILY DWELLING” shall mean a 
structure designed to contain more than two 
dwelling units in which the units can share 
primary exterior entrances, but where each 
dwelling unit has separate housekeeping 
and cooking facilities. Dwelling units within 
a multi-family dwelling may be attached 
through common walls or common floors.

20.	 “OPEN SPACE” shall mean any hardscaped, 
landscaped, grass or appropriate vegetation 
area but shall not include any interior 
landscaping or landscaped areas within 
parking areas.

21.	 “OWNER” shall mean and refer to the 
record owner, whether one or more persons 
or entities, of the fee simple title to any Lot 
which is a part of the Property, including the 
Developer or Master Developer, but shall not 
mean or refer to any mortgagee or subsequent 
holder of a mortgage, unless and until such 
mortgagee or holder has acquired title 
pursuant to foreclosure or any proceedings in 
lieu of foreclosure.

22.	 “PARKING STRUCTURE” A multi-level, 
ventilated or open-aired structure meant to 
park vehicles in a vertical manner to achieve 
a higher yield on such a land use.  Such 
structures may be freestanding or integrated 
into another building, or at the base of a 
multi-use structure.  Parking structures may 
have multiple entries/ exits and connected 
between levels by ramps, stairs and/or 
elevators.

23.	 “PERSONAL CARE SERVICES” means an 
establishment or place of business primarily 
engaged in the provision of services of a 
personal nature related to the care, hygiene, 
or appearance of the human body or the 
maintenance of items worn or carried by 
persons.  Such services are usually but 
not always recurrent in nature.  Examples 



Easton Farm40

05 | Definitions

of personal service uses include, but are 
not limited to, beauty and barber shops, 
shoe repair shops, health spas, therapeutic 
massage, tailor shops, and the like.

24.	 “PUBLIC AND INSTITUTIONAL USES” 
shall mean buildings and uses such as 
libraries, schools, government buildings, 
churches or other uses approved by the City. 

25.	 “SERVICE WAY” A separate drive either 
behind or to the side of a building or row of 
buildings that is subordinate in nature to the 
primary streets surrounding or connected to 
it. Its primary function is to allow for access 
to garages, driveways, and to allow for rear 
or side service access to a building(s), home 
or row of homes.  They are often primarily 
vehicular in nature but can be made into 
a mini-street effect with setbacks and 
landscaping.  

26.	 “SET BACKS” shall mean designated areas 
adjacent to lot lines on which the construction 
of buildings is not permitted, and shall also be 
defined as “build to lines.”

27.	 “SINGLE-FAMILY, ATTACHED 
DWELLING” shall mean a structure 
containing more than one single-family 
dwelling unit in which the units are 
physically attached only by common walls. 
Each unit has its own housekeeping facilities, 
cooking facilities and separate exterior 
entrance way.

28.	 “STORMWATER MANAGEMENT”shall 
mean the impoundment of stormwater in 
ponds, swales, or other collection devises, and 
the holding of such for a period of time and 
release at the prescribed rate determined by 
the City.

29.	 “STRUCTURE” shall mean any improvement 
on the Property that is capable of occupancy 
or use including, but not limited to, any 
building, garage, fence, wall, sign or any 

other temporary or permanent improvement; 
and any excavation, fill, ditch, dam or other 
thing or device that changes the grade of any 
land by more than six inches or alters the 
natural flow of waters from, upon or across 
any part of the Property.


	2021 03 10 planning commission how to join zoom PUBLIC.pdf
	To:
	From:
	Date:
	Re:

	2021 03 10  Planning Commission Meeting.pdf
	Vote: Harding, yes; Davis, yes; Sillies, yes; Dimmitt, yes; Iverson, yes; Pearson, yes; Thompson, yes (7-0)
	Ms. Iverson took this time to explain the process and the order of speakers for the meeting. She reported that 19 e-mails were submitted to share comments and 4 citizens requested to speak. The staff will provide their report first, then the applicant...
	Vote: Davis, yes; Sillies, yes; Dimmitt, yes; Iverson, yes; Pearson, yes; Thompson, yes;
	Harding, yes; (7-0)
	B. Preliminary Review
	Rezoning, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-Type Residential District, to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and residential development
	C. General Plan, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-Type Residential District, to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and residential development
	Background Information

	The Tooling Zone-Submittal.pdf
	Existing Photos.pdf
	KIMG0509
	KIMG0510
	KIMG0511
	KIMG0512

	LIGHTING.pdf
	rr2 (1)
	Wall Pack
	Pole Head
	Pole

	TOOLING ZONE STORM WATER REPORT.pdf
	1-3 Stormwater Report The Tooling Zone
	4 DRAINAGE MAP
	5 FEMA FLOOD MAP
	6 FEMA FLOOD MAP
	7-13
	14-20
	21-26
	27-28


	Easton Design Guidelines.pdf
	01-Introduction_kl
	02-Village Center_kl 21.03.18
	03-Residential_kl 21.03.18
	04-Landscaping_kl 21.03.18
	05-Definitions_kl 21.03.18

	2021 04 14 planning commission comments and background.pdf
	City of Springboro Planning Commission Meeting
	A. Preliminary Review
	B. Preliminary Review
	Rezoning, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-Type Residential District, to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and residential development
	C. Preliminary Review
	General Plan, Easton Farm, 605 North Main Street, from R-1, Estate-Type Residential District, to PUD-MU, Planned Unit Development-Mixed Use, retail and residential development




